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Introduction

[1]

[4]

The matter at hand in this instance concerns two review applications. The one
concerns an application by the applicant under case number PR 121 / 16 to
review and set aside an arbitration award made by the second respondent in
his capacity as an arbitrator of the Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and
Arbitration (the third respondent), relating to the dismissal of the first
respondent by the applicant. The other application is an application by the
applicant under case number PR 122 / 16 to review and set ééide an award by
the second respondent in his capacity as an arbitrator_of_th_e first respondent in
that matter, relating to the issue of suspension of the f_irst'_:j_reSpondent by the
applicant, prior to his dismissal by the applicant. Both abp}jééﬁo_ns have been
brought in terms of Section 145 of the Labour Relg_tions"Ac_;:ﬂ (‘the LRA’).

The applications were initially brought in the Labogr Court in Johannesburg
under case numbers JR 2613/ 13 and JR 9?7/ 15, respectively. In a written
agreement concluded between the paﬁies on 11 Abril 2016, it was agreed that
the applications be jointly det_erh)i_ned, and be transferred to the Labour Court
in Port Elizabeth for hearing, cd_'r"_is'iderin_g that all the issues giving rise to both
the applications took place in East London and in the CCMA in East London.
This agreemeh__i was endor_se_d by this Court, and the applications then came

before me in _Por_;_ _Elizabe_th under the new case numbers reflected above.

Because of .d.if'fe'rent. .arbi.trators dealing with each of the matters, and for the
sake of convenience, in this judgment | will refer to the second respondent in
respect of 1'th.e dismissal dispute (under case number PR 121 / 16) as arbitrator
Mbuli, and the second respondent in the suspension dispute (under case

number PR 122 / 16) as arbitrator Sonamzi.

The matter dealt with by arbitrator Sonamzi concerned the suspension of the
first respondent on 21 May 2013, pending disciplinary proceedings to follow.
The first respondent considered his suspension to constitute an unfair labour
practice under the LRA, and challenged this suspension on this basis, to the
third respondent. In an award dated 30 October 2013, arbitrator Sonamzi
determined that the suspension of the first respondent was indeed an unfair

! Act 66 of 1995.
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labour practice, and awarded compensation to the first respondent in a sum of

R216 666.67, being an amount equivalent to 2(two) months’ remuneration.

Turning then to the matter dealt with by arbitrator Mbuli, this matter concerned
the dismissal of the first respondent by the applicant for misconduct on 14
October 2013. The first respondent challenged this dismissal as an unfair
dismissal to the third respondent. This dispute came before the arbitrator
Mbuli over a number of days in 2014 and 2015, and conciuded only in 2015.
Following completion of the arbitration proceedings, and__ in an arbitration
award dated 29 April 2015, arbitrator Mbuli found in_févo_ur of the first
respondent. Whilst arbitrator Mbuli accepted that the dismissal of the first
respondent by the applicant was procedurally fair, he determined that such
dismissal was substantively unfair. Arbitrator Mbuli cidns_édﬂgntly directed that
the applicant was required to reinstate the_ﬁrst_ tes_pondent w"ith retrospective
effect to the date of his dismissal on 14 Octobefzr 20.1__3,':'-and pay the first
respondent back pay in the amount of .R'1 08_(_)__816.7'{__)_,

I am satisfied that both review applications we_re'fimeously brought and are
properiy before this Court. | wili_.now pro'é'e'éd in deciding both these review
applications by first setting out the .relevant facts in this matter, in one

consolidated summary, relating to both applications.

The relevant facts

[7]

8]

The applicant conducts business as a manufacturer and distributor of beer
products. It conducts operations throughout the country. This case relates to

its border district operations based in East London.

The first respondent, at the time of his dismissal, was employed as the district
manager for the border district. He had occupied that position since 1 January
2008. He was based in East London. In such capacity, he was ultimately
responsible for all operations and compliance in the district. In fact, it can
readily be said that he would be viewed as the ‘managing director’ for the
district. Part and parcel of these duties included that the first respondent was
responsible to ensure that the district complied with all legal requisites in
respect of its operations, which included the fleet of vehicles operated by the
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applicant in the district. The turnover of the applicant for that district was in

excess of R1 billion.

In December 2012, it was brought to the attention of the first respondent that
there were irregularities relating to the applicant’'s vehicle fleet in the border
district. In particular, there were fraudulent activities relating to the licencing of
the vehicles, and that some of the vehicles were actually operating uniicenced
and without the necessary maintenance. The first respondent instructed the
fleet manager, Salie Adams (‘Adams’) and the East London depot manager,
Mallane Selikane (‘Selikane’), in an e-mail on 21 December 2012, to
immediately remedy the situation, as it could present major legal ramifications
for the applicant and was a huge risk to the apptic_ant.___T_h_e___ﬁrst respondent
stated that resolving this problem had to be treated as {_)__n.é éf___‘urgency’. There
is however no indication that the first respondent, of his .own accord, followed

up on what was actually being done about the situation by these managers.

On 7 January 2013, an investigation was COn_d_g_cted by Heinrich Hansen
(‘Hansen’), the risk manager for the appiicant’§ Cépe region, about the issue
of the unlicenced trucks, Fql_l__ow:i:ng this ih“\'/”'e'sfi.gation, and on 9 January 2013,
Hansen sent an e-mail to a 'nu"rﬁtier of functionaries in the border district,
including the first re__spo;adent, in which a number of trailers were identified and
listed that had.: to be reéiicgnced_ The e-mail also identified discrepancies
between the trailers at the dé'pots, and what had been captured on the
applicant's SAP m_as_ter_ syStem. What is however important is that this e-mail
high!ighted th_é fabt that the problem may even be bigger and that there could
be even more vehicl:.es that were not licenced, or were not roadworthy, or were

not propériy captured on the SAP system.

The first respondent then reacted to this e-mail on 10 January 2013. He sent
an e-mail instruction to all the persons responsible for fleet management in the
district on the same date, recording that the issue was ‘extremely urgent’, had
to take precedence over all operational issues, and that a spread sheet had to
be produced to track all activities to remedy the problem, on a daily basis, with
updates being provided to the first respondent. However, and once again,

other than this e-mail instruction, it does not appear that the first respondent
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became directly or personally involved, nor does it appear that he was ever

provided with the updates he demanded.

In fact, it appeared that the first respondent did very little about this clear and
serious problem. There was minimal interaction between the first respondent
and the responsible functionaries about this. On 25 January 2013, the first
respondent sends an e-mail to infer alia Adams, asking for an update and
saying 'time is running out'. The first respondent is provided with an update on
25 January 2013, and he then again follows up with similar e-mails sent on 28
and 29 January 2013. But there is no evidence _-'o'f' further updates
forthcoming, nor what the first respondent did about this lack in further
feedback. | "

On the evidence, and on 7 March 2013,_Ad_ams:__sent .t'w_o e-malils to various
parties about the issue of the problems____:'\)v.ith ihe .ﬂe_ej_t. The first respondent
was directly copied into these e-mails. The é-—_ma'i'fs'o'n face value are
contradictory. In one e-mail, which had a sprea__d sheet attached, there were
stili a number of ‘major’ problems listed that __rééfuired attention. It may be
mentioned that Adams records in this schedule that trailer number STO 837
was in a bad state and recjuired ifn_'éj'or repairs. In the other e-mail on the same
day, Adams th@n_says_ that there "is__ now ‘light at the end of the tunnel and
suggests that save oniy. .fo.r.__3 _tr_?ilers, all the major problems with the fleet are
resolved. It appears that based on this latter communication, and despite
what seémed: to.be a contradiction, the first respondent simply accepted that
all had been %{_asofved, which turned out to be far from reality.

On 10 May 2013, trailer STO 837 was then involved in a fatal accident. This
vehicle was still in a state of disrepair, and unlicenced. This accident then
prompted an investigation from the applicant's head office. On 15 May 2013,
the first respondent was advised in writing of this investigation, and informed
that the applicant was investigating issues of dereliction of duties and gross
negligence against the first respondent as a result of this incident and the
general management of the fleet. The first respondent was asked to provide a
statement as part of this investigation. The first respondent indeed provided

such a statement.
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A complete fleet audit was then conducted on 18 May 2013. This included an
inspection of all vehicles, and a comparison of the vehicles to the information
contained on the SAP system as well as documents relating to the vehicles
(such as licences). This audit revealed that there were several vehicles that
were not roadworthy and did not display valid licence discs. In addition, the
report revealed that despite the accident involving STO 837 on 10 May 2013,
corrective action had still not been taken thereafter. This report was conveyed

to the applicant’s head office on 20 May 2013.

Then, and clearly as a reaction to the aforesaid accident and the audit being
conducted, the first respondent on 20 May 2013 -sends an e-mail to all
responsible functionaries in the district, which in essence rehashes the same
issues as before, but now implementing some specific co.ri.tiz_fol measures he is
directly involved in. Again, also, the first respondent asks that all vehicles be
properly captured on the SAP system, be_.made fuliy com_p_l_iant, with reports to
him personally on steps taken. ACéordin_g_ to th@ applicant however, this

intervention was too little, too late.

The applicant then decided .tp_ _coh_duct an intensive investigation into the entire
district.  In order to ensure "'}_i'hé't'th_is investigation would be conducted
unhindered and without interfe_rehc.e, it was decided to suspend the first
respondent. On 21 May 2013, the first respondent was then suspended
pending this investigation, by wéy of written notice. The first respondent was
told that was entitled to challenge the suspension if he wanted. It may be
added that.“the fleet manager for the district (Adams) had also been

suspended.

On 4 June 2013, the first respondent sent an e-mail to the applicant's sales
and marketing director, Wayne McCauley (‘McCauley’), complaining about his
suspension, and inter alia stated there was no ‘meaningful’ reason to suspend
him and that he was not given an opportunity to make submissions prior to his
suspension. McCauley disagreed, and answered on 5 June 2013 that the
allegations against the first respondent were very serious and needed to be
investigated. The first respondent was also informed that the investigation
was underway, would be expedited as far as possible, and the first respondent

would be informed as soon as it is completed. McCauley also said that the
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applicant considered the first respondent’'s suspension on full pay to be in the

interest of the parties, pending the conclusion of the investigation.

It must also be added that the investigations conducted about the fleet in the
border district did not only involve the first respondent. In the end, ten
individual investigations were conducted that led to eight disciplinary enquiries,
two of which related to persons that reported directly to the first respondent.

On 7 August 2013, the first respondent challenged his continuing suspension
as an unfair labour practice dispute to the CCMA. In terms of this referral, the

first respondent simply contended that his suspension was unfair.

Finally, and on 19 August 2013, the first responde'nt was seNed with a notice
to attend a disciplinary enquiry to be heid on 28 August 2013 Three charges
were proffered against him, and categonzed in general terms to be that of
gross dereliction of duties, gross neghgence dishonesty derivative
misconduct, and bringing the company name into dtsrepute These charges
related to the first reSpondent s failure and neg!ect to take appropriate action
to attend to the problems W|th the fleet in the district and to ensure that ali
these problems were rectified. . The_ dishonesty charge related to presenting

false information to the appiit:ant’s management on 17 May 2013.

The disciplinazy__ hearing then commenced on 28 August 2013, and continued
on 29 and 30 -A_ugust,'_z, 10 and 26 September 2013. In a written
determination ‘delivered 6n 11 October 2013, the first respondent was
acqui'tted on the charge of dishonesty. This charge was therefore of no
relevance in the "proceedings to follow. In the written determination, the
chairperson however found the first respondent guilty of the charges relating
dereliction of duties, gross negligence and bringing the company name into
disrepute. Pursuant to these disciplinary proceedings, the first respondent

was then dismissed on 14 October 2013.

The first respondent prosecuted an internal appeal, filed on 15 October 2013,
pursuant to which an appeal hearing was held on 12 November 2013. The
dismissal of the first respondent was upheld on appeal, in a written finding
handed down on 15 November 2013.
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In addition to the first respondent being dismissed, Adams, the fleet manager,
was dismissed. The fleet supervisor Marcel Ernston was also dismissed, as
well as the two depot managers, Selakane and Allistair Camphor. The first
respondent in effect completed the circle of responsible managers where it

came to the fleet, so to speak, that were dismissed.

The first respondent referred an unfair dismissal dispute to the third
respondent, challenging both the substantive and procedural fairness of his

dismissal.

The first respondent’s unfair labour practice dispute relating to his suspension
came before arbitrator Sonamzi on 23 October 2013, _fof.-:arbitration. In an
arbitration award dated 30 October 2013, arb__itrator S_Qria_”r_ﬁ'z'i concluded that
the applicant had valid reason to suspend the firs;__respondeht.__This finding is
not the subject matter of any review caseand .'sta_nds._?'__ This being said,
arbitrator Sonamzi concluded that the first -re_sponde_ni was .not given a proper
opportunity to make representationéand to Sho_v_v cause, prior to suspension,
as to why he should not be suspended, and this was unfair. Arbitrator
Sonamzi also concluded: ..'i_hat' the first rééfbondent‘s suspension was of
unreasonably long duraﬁon, and thus became punitive and was unfair.
Arbitrator Sonamzi then awarded two months’ salary as compensation to the
first responden_t; in the s.um __of____R2‘16 666.67. These conclusions and award

now forr_n the subject matter of "the one review application before me.

Turning then to 'the ﬁrs't'respondent’s unfair dismissal case, and as stated
above, it came before arbitrator Mbuli. Arbitrator Mbuli concluded that the
dismissal of the first respondent was procedurally fair. In the absence of a

cross review, this finding stands.

Turning to the issue of substantive fairess in the case before arbitrator Mbuili,
the first respondent in the arbitration raised a number of grounds on which he
contended that his dismissal was substantively unfair. One of these grounds
was that the applicant inconsistently applied discipline where it came to
disciplining the first respondent. Arbitrator Mbuli considered this alleged
ground of unfairness and concluded that the first respondent had failed to

make out a prima facie case of inconsistency which the applicant had to meet,
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and thus dismissed this ground of alleged unfairness. Again, and in the

absence of a cross review, this finding of the arbitrator stands.

The other grounds on which the first respondent challenged the substantive
fairness of his dismissal was that he did not commit the misconduct
concerned, and even if he did, dismissal was too harsh a sanction.
Considering these grounds, arbitrator Mbuli reasoned that what the first
respondent had been dismissed for was a charge based on dereliction of duty.
The arbitrator accepted that the problems with the fleet in the border district
indeed existed, as was contended to be the case by the abbiicant. Arbitrator
Mbuli also accepted that there was a failure to take decisive and appropriate
action to remedy this, and then identified the issue he had to decide in this
respect as being only that of whether this failure could be.”aﬁr_ibdted to the first

respondent.

As to the other charges against the first respondent, arbitrator Mbuli identified
the issues he had to decide as beihg whetﬁer the_ﬁrst respondent exercised
due diligence in dealing with a vendor of the ap_piic.:'ant, executed his duties in a
proper manner so as to pr'Op_eﬁy protect.t'he épplicant’s finances and assets
against risk, and whether.'he brought the company name into disrepute relating
to labour brokers. _N'on_e of these issues were however pursued in the later
review applicat.ion, which f_o_c_:u_s?ed only on the problems with the fleet. i will

therefore not pay any further attention to these charges.

Arbitrator Mb'ﬁ.i.i'conciudéd that the first respondent did not commit the
misconduct where i.t came to all these charges, with which he had been
charged. The reason for finding so, in short, was that, according to the
arbitrator_, ali the failures complained of by the applicant was not the first
respondént’s responsibility and he did all that could be expected of him. The
arbitrator also reasoned that even if the first respondent transgressed, this was
a case where progressive discipline was appropriate, and there was no

evidence of a break down in the trust relationship.

Arbitrator Mbuli ultimately found that there was no valid reason to dismiss the
first respondent and consequently his dismissal was substantively unfair. The

arbitrator then directed that the first respondent be reinstated with back pay,
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as referred to above. These conclusions form the subject matter of the other

review application before me.

I will now proceed to decide both review applications by first setting out the

relevant test for review.

The test for review

[34]

[35]

The appropriate test for review is now settled. In Sidumq_ and Another v
Rustenburg Platinum Mines Ltd and Others,® Navsa:_.AJ held that the
standards as contemplated by Section 33 of the Constitution3 are in essence
to be blended into the review grounds in Section 145(2) of the LRA, and
remarked that ‘the reasonableness standard should now suffuse s 145 of the LRA’.

The learned Judge held that the threshoid test for the reasonabieness of an
award was: ‘...Is the decision reached by the commassmner one that a reasonable

decision-maker could not reach?...”

Accordingly, in every mstance where the constltutlonaily suffused Section
145(2)(a)(ii} is sought to be apphed by a review applicant to substantiate a
review application, any faifure | or error on the part of the arbitrator relied on
must lead to an unreasonable outcome arrived at by the arbitrator, for this
failure or error to be feviewable. In my view therefore, what the review
applicant must establish"in ord.é'r to succeed with a review application in such
an instance iS first!y that there is a failure or error on the part of the arbitrator.
If this cannot be shown to exist, that is the end of the matter. But even if this
failure or error is shown to exist, the review applicant must then further show
that the o.'utcome arrived at by the arbitrator was unreasonable. If the outcome
arrived at is nonetheless reasonable, despite the error or failure, that is equally
the end of the review application. In shon, in order for the review to succeed,
the error or failure must affect the reasonableness of the outcome to the extent

of rendering it unreasonable. In Herholdt v Nedbank Ltd and Another’ the
Court said:

(2007) 28 ILJ 2405 (CC).

Constltutson of the Republic of South Africa, 1996.

*1d at para 110. See also CUSA v Tao Ying Metal industries and Others (2008) 29 ILJ 2461 (CC) at
para 134; Fidelity Cash Management Service v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration
and Others (2008} 29 ILJ 964 (L.AC) at para 96.

® (2013) 34 ILJ 2795 (SCA) at para 25.
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... A result will only be unreasonable if it is one that a reasonable arbitrator
could not reach on all the material that was before the arbitrator. Material
errors of fact, as well as the weight and relevance to be attached to the
particular facts, are not in and of themselves sufficient for an award to be set
aside, but are only of consequence if their effect is to render the outcome

unreasonable.’

[36] As to the application of the reasonableness consideration -as articulated in
Herholdt, the LAC in Gold Fields Mining South Africa (Pty) Ltd (Kloof Gold
Mine} v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and Others®

said:

... in a case such as the present, _whére_ a gfoss irregularity in the
proceedings is alleged, the enquiry is not conf_ihéd to Whether the arbitrator
misconceived the nature of the prdt:eedin_gs, but e,__xtenaé to whether the result
was unreasonable, or put another way, wh'ether_ the decision that the arbitrator
arrived at is one that falls in a band of decisiorﬁé a reasonable decision maker

could come to on the available material.”

[37] Accordingly, the reaspnableness ._c_ons.ideration envisages a determination,
based on all th:é é\fident:e_and issues before the arbitrator, as to whether the
outcome . the arbitrator érfiVed at can nonetheless be sustained as a
reasonéble ogtcomg, even if it may be for different reasons or on different
grounds.’ This. nece_és.it.a't'es a consideration by the review court of the entire
record of the proceédings before the arbitrator, as well as the issues raised by
the partiés before the arbitrator, with the view to establish whether this
material and issues can, or cannot, sustain the outcome arrived at by the
arbitrator'.' In the end, if the outcome arrived at by the arbitrator cannot be
sustained on any grounds, based on that material and issues raised, and the

irregularity, failure or error concerned is the only basis to sustain the outcome

6 (2014) 35 ILJ 943 (LAC} at para 14. The Gold Fields judgment was followed by the LAC itself in
Monare v SA Tourism and Others (2016) 37 ILJ 394 (LAC) at para 59; Quest Flexible Staffing
Solutions (Pty) Lid (A Division of Adcorp Fulfiiment Services (Pty) Ltd) v Legobate (2015) 36 ILJ 968
(LAC) at paras 15 ~ 17; Natlional Union of Mineworkers and Another v Commission for Conciliation,
Mediation and Arbitration and Others (2015) 36 iLJ 2038 (LAC) at para 16.

" See Fidelity Cash Management (supra) at para 102,
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the arbitrator arrived at, that the review application would succeed.® In Anglo
Platinum (Pty) Ltd (Bafokeng Rasemone Mine) v De Beer and Others® it was
held:

".... the reviewing courl must consider the totality of evidence with a view to
determining whether the result is capable of justification. Unless the evidence
viewed as a whole causes the result to be unreasonable, errors of fact and the

like are of no consequence and do not serve as a basis for a review.’

[38] Against the above principles and test, | will now proce__e_cf to consider the
applicant's application to review and set aside the arbi_tration awards of both
arbitrators Sonamzi and Mbuli. | will start by summar_iﬁzihg the review grounds

raised by the applicant in both review applications.

Grounds of review

[39] A review applicant's case for revi_ew must be n__]:'_é_ade out in the founding
affidavit, and supplementary affidavit.” As was said in Northam Platinum Ltd

v Fganyago NO and Others"":

‘.... The basic principle is that a litigant is required to set out all the material
facts on which he or she relies in challenging the reasonableness or otherwise

of the commissioner's award in his or her founding affidavit'

[40] In the foundi'n'g aﬁ_‘idIaIVit' in the review application pertaining to the award
arbitrator Sonamzi, the applicant raises five primary review grounds. The first
review gro'und is based on the arbitrator's own finding that the suspension was
for a valid reason, and then takes issue with his subsequent conclusion that
the suspénsion had become ‘punitive’, on the basis that it was irrational and
ignored material evidence. The second review ground relates to the fact that
arbitrator Sonamazi ignored the fact that by the time the matter was arbitrated,

the first respondent had aiready been charged and dismissed. Thirdly, the

® See Campbelf Scientific Africa (Pty} Lid v Simmers and Others (2016) 37 ILJ 116 (LAC) at para 32.

? (2015) 36 ILJ 1453 (LAC) at para 12.

'Y See Brodie v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and Others (2013) 34 IL.J 608
(LC) at para 33; Songoba Security Services MP (Pty) Lid v Motor Transport Workers Union (2011) 32
ILJ 730 (LC) at para 9; De Beer v Minister of Safety and Security and Another (2011) 32 ILJ 2506 (LC)
at para 27. The supplementary affidavit is filed in terms of Rule 7A(8).

" (2010) 31 ILJ 713 (LC) at para 27.
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applicant contends that arbitrator Sonamzi misdirected himself in attaching
speculative motivations to the reason why the first respondent had been
suspended, which was unsupported by any evidence. The fourth review
ground concerned a contention that the arbitrator misdirected himself and
ignored material evidence in finding that the suspension was unfair because of
non compliance with audi alteram partem. The final review ground related to
the compensation award, which according to the applicant was irrational, an
unfair and unjust exercise of the discretion that needed to be exercised, and
unduly punitive in nature. The applicant did not supplement these grounds of

review in a supplementary affidavit.

Turning next to the founding affidavit in the review application relating to the
award of arbitrator Mdluli in the unfair dzsmlssaf case, the appilcant raised a
number of different review grounds, whlch can readlly be summarlzed into one
main ground that arbitrator Mdluli d:sregarded materlal evidence relating to the
nature of the first respondent’s .posmon, his ac_countablhty, duties and
responsibilities, and what the first réspondent héa done to discharge these
duties and responsibilities. !n th'ig contekf, itis the review case of the applicant
that the finding of the érbi__tréto_r iha__t_ the first respondent did not commit the
misconduct was uhreasonable. | ‘As a second main ground of review, the
applicant compl.ai.ned fhat the relief' afforded to the first respondent by the
arbitrator was arbltrary WIth the back pay awarded being grossly excessive
and pumtlve especsalty cons:dering that the first respondent had found
alternative empioyment with Coca Cola as from 13 November 2013 in a similar
position with a simiiar remuneration package. The applicant filed a notice in
terms of Ruié 7A(8) and a supplementary affidavit on 8 October 2015, but this
supplementary affidavit simply sought to add more factual background to the
main review ground that arbitrator Mdluli misconstrued and ignored pertinent

evidence, rendering the outcome arrived at to be unreasonable.

t will now proceed to consider the applicant's fwo review applications, based
on the grounds of review, summarized above, starting with the review
application in respect of the award of arbitrator Somanzi in the unfair labour

practice dispute.

Evaluation: the unfair labour practice
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Arbitrator Sonamzi, as a point of departure, correctly identified that where it
comes to suspension, what is meant is that an employer requires an employee
to vacate its premises whilst the employer is investigating misconduct or poor
performance, on the part of an employee. Whilst this is not the only basis
upon which an employer could justifiably exclude an employee from reporting

for work, such an investigation is certainly proper cause for this.

Arbitrator Sonamzi then seeks to ascribe certain motivations to exist on the
part of employers, when suspending employees. He reasoned that
suspension is effected to remove an employee from the premises, so as to
prevent the causing of further harm by the :employe__e repéating the
misconduct, to prevent the employee from interfering 'wi_th.":the ih've._stigation, to
avoid disharmony in the workpiace, as a_q:expreésion of ."t'hc;_e employer's anger
towards an employee and as a me_an's.'__. of refﬁbution__ in that the employer
wishes to humiliate or punish the"efnpioye_e. Th':e_se motivations arbitrator
Sonamzi sought to articulate are in_:part corfect, _aﬁd in part a misdirection,

which | will address next. =~ .

Suspension is in reality the emp'!pyér excluding the employee from fulfilling his
or her normal d___ut__ies u'n_d_er the e_m.ployment contract. It does not have to be an
actual exclusio_h from the workplace. It can also take place with pay, or without
pay. But this exclusion has té :b.e for a legitimate reason or purpose. It can
never be mo__t_i_vated by anger, retribution or for the purposes of humiliating the
employee. A suspension can only be legitimately effected based on one of
two basic _grounds,'the first being suspension as a holding operation, and the

second being suspension as a sanction.

Suspensidn as a sanction follows only as an outcome to disciplinary
proceedings, normally as an alternative to dismissal. In County Fair v CCMA

and Others'? it was said:

‘... it is possible for an employer and employee (and even a union) to reach

agreement on suspension without pay as an ailternative to dismissal ...’

'2(1998) 6 BLLR 577 (LC) at para 28. See also HOSPERSA and Another v MEC for Health, Gauteng
Provincial Government (2008) 28 ILJ 2769 (LC) at para 17.
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As opposed to this, suspension as a holding operation, or otherwise called a
precautionary measure, is not a disciplinary measure. It cannot be seen as
disciplinary action, therefore all the requirements relating to fair disciplinary
action under the LRA cannot find application. In Koka v Director General:
Provincial Administration North West Government', Landman J (as he then
was) referred with approval to the following remarks made by Denning MR in
Lewis v Heffer and others [1978] 3 All ER 354 (CA) at 364C-E:

‘Very often irregularities are disclosed in a government department or in a
business house; and a man may be suspended on full péy pending enguiries.
Suspicion may rest on him; and he is suspended until he is éieared of it. No
one, as far as | know, has ever questioned such a .suspe_n__sion oh the ground
that it could not be done unless he is given notice.df__"'thé charge. and an
opportunity of defending himself and so forth. The su.Spen.s'ion in such a case
is merely done by way of good admir_ﬁ?s:tfé.tibn._ A situation has arisen in which

something must be done at once. ....". ©

Landman J specifically referred to this kind b'f :éuspension as a ‘holding

operation’.

The distinction between sUspehsiqn as a disciplinary sanction and a hoiding
operation susp_ension; was also specifically recognized in the judgment of
Member of the Executive Council for Education, North West Provincial
Govemmeht_.v 'Gr_adwellﬁ. And in Mashego v Mpumalanga Provincial

Legislature and Others™® the Court said:

‘It s__hould be'.noted that the suspension in this matter was not done in the
cohtéxt of punishing the applicant but rather as a precautionary measure
pending the outcome of an investigation. It is generally accepted that an
employer has discretionary power to suspend an employee if the presence of

such an employee at work is likely to undermine an investigation ...’

'®(1997) 18 ILJ 1018 (LC).
" 1d at 1028E — 1029D. See also Mabilo v Mpumalanga Provincial Government and Others (1999) 20

iLJ 1818 (LC) at para 23 — 24; Perumal v Minister of Safety and Security and Others (2001} 22 iLJ
1870 {LC) at para 25 ~ 28; SA Municipal Workers Union and Another v Nelson Mandela Metropolitan
Municipality and Others (2007) 28 ILJ 2804 {LC) at para 14.

13 {2012) 33 ILJ 2033 (LAC) at paras 44 — 45,

16 (2015) 36 IL.J 458 (L.C) at para 10.
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The Court in South African Municipal Workers' Union obo Dlamini and others v
Mogale City Local Municipality and Another'” summarized this distinction as

follows:

1 will firstly deal with the issue of suspension. | simply cannot agree with Mr
Buirski that in order for an employer to suspend an employee, the employer
must have determined or accepted that misconduct exists. in a nutshell, the
existence of misconduct is not a sine qua non for an employee fto be
legitimately suspended. Where an employee is suspended, an employee is
not yet disciplined. The only instance where suspensio'hn'.is discipline of an
employee is where the suspension is imposed as.a disciplinary sanction
following disciplinary proceedings. Where suspensmn .is imposed as a
precaulionary measure, this is a prelude to pOSSIb|e d|scsp!:nary action and not
disciplinary action itself. This kind of suspension is k_n_own_;:as precautionary

suspension.

Where an employee is subjecté_d to discipline, the disciplinary action itself is
commenced when the employee .'is called to ensv&e} allegations of misconduct.
The fact is that an employee can only be called to answer aliegations of
misconduct if the empioyer actually knows what this alleged misconduct is,
and can identify and des_cnbe_l_t with sufficient particularity in a notice to attend
the disciplinary hearing p’reseoted fo the employee. Any suspension of the
employee preceding this commencement on this basis simply cannot be the
actual oonduct of d:sc:plme itself, as the purpose of this suspension is to

m;tlgate .fu_rther__{_leks__ to the employer because such discipline is contemplated,

' but has not yet happened.”

It is precieeiy because of the distinction between suspension as a ‘holding
operation’ and suspension as ‘disciplinary action’, that Section 186(2)(b) of the
LRA is worded the way it has been. The Section defines an unfair labour

practice as:

‘any unfair act or omission that arises between an employer and an employee
involving ... the unfair suspension of an employee or any other unfair

disciplinary action short of dismissal in respect of an employee”’

7 [2014] 12 BLLR 1236 (LC) at paras 31 — 32. See also Manamela da v Department of Co-Operative
Governance Human Settlements and Traditional Affairs Limpopeo Province and Another [2016] JOL
37301 (LC) at paras 16 — 17.



[51]

[52]

[53]

18

ff suspension was considered to be only disciplinary action, there would be no
need to have included the first part of this definition, because it would have

been fully covered by ‘other unfair disciplinary action’ as referred to therein.

Considering there is this distinction, there must be a reason for it. The reason
for the distinction is simply that the standards of faimess differs in the two

instances. This was recognized in Gradwell, where the Court said:'®

‘... When dealing with a holding operation suspe_n_sio.n,. as opposed to a
suspension as a disciplinary sanction, the right t:é' a hearing, or more
accurately the standard of procedural fairess, may Jég_@fgi__mé_t_e_ly be attenuated,
for three principal reasons. Firstly, as in the presenf: c__'_c_lse',”precautionary
suspensions tend to be on full pay with the c':on_seque'nce”ihat the prejudice
flowing from the action is significanﬂy.:g:ontaih'ed_ahd_ mi_n_i:a"’_nized. Secondly, the
period of suspension often will bé':('or at least should be).'for a limited duration.
... And, thirdly, the purpose of fhe suspehéion the protection of the integrity
of the investigation into the alleged misconduct - risks being undermined by a
requirement of an in-cfe_p_th .preiiminary"iﬂvégtigation. Provided the safeguards
of no loss of remudera_tioh and a limited period of operation are in place, the

balance of convenience in most instances wiil favour the employer.’

Itis in my view clear that ih the case of a holding operation (precautionary)
suspension, there is no r?quirement, as a general principle of fairness, that an
employee must be heérd or otherwise be given an opportunity to make
representations before it is decided to place the employee on such kind of
suspension. Whether such a suspension is fair or unfair is dependent upon

three other criteria, which I will next set out.

The first criteria relates to the reason for this kind of suspension, and flows
from the very nature of this kind of suspension itself, being that of ‘precaution’.
‘Precaution’ contemplates safeguarding a process or action that is pending. it
means that for precautionary suspension to be fair, it must be directly linked to

a pending investigation or process, whether relating to misconduct, incapacity,

18(

supra) at para 44.
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or for operational requirements.’® And then, the suspension must serve to
protect the integrity of the investigation or process, or mitigate risks to the
employer whilst such an investigation or process is ongoing. It does not serve
to dispense punishment upon the employee, but is done in the interest of good
administration. The absence of these considerations would mean there is no

basis or reason for precautionary suspension, and it would be unfair.

It is not necessary for the employer, at this stage, to substantiate the
misconduct or complaints against the employee. Ali that .is required is a
reasonable belief on the part of the employer that it exists, "évc-_:fn if such belief

may be subjective. In Mashego® it was held:

. the case of the applicant is that he was not afforded a fé"i'r hearing because
the applicant did not deal in the suspensmn process wnth the merits of the
alleged misconduct. | do not agree ‘with that proposmon as a suspension
process by its nature is intended to afford the__employer the opportunity to
investigate the merits and alsorthe demerits of t_he alleged misconduct. The
key aspect in determining the fairness of the "'s.us;)ension is whether the
employer had, based _pri' 't.he nature of the__:e:i_!legations, formed a view that the

allegations were so _serious_,__aé to warrant a suspension ...’

And in Madzonga v Mo,t_)_i:_’e Telephone Networks (Pty) Ltc?" the Court said:

‘The final issue to refer to in this regard is that in effect all that the disciplinary
code required is that the respondent must have the belief that the presence of
~the ap.p.licant at work would prejudice the investigation or cause disharmony. |
accept that this belief must be reasonable in the light of the actual facts of the
parﬁéu!ar matter, but this does not mean that this belief must be able to be
obj_ectively substantiated at that point in time. What this entails is a
reé.sonable apprehension of risk, in the light of the purpose and scope of the
investigation to follow as considered with the nature of the allegations against

the employee. The respondent is entitled to its own belief in this respect, as

¥ See for example Sephanda and Another v Provincial Commissioner, SA Police Service, Gauteng
Province and Another (2012) 33 ILJ 2110 (LC) which concerned a precautionary suspension only
implemented when the disciplinary hearing itself was already well underway, and there was thus no
need for a precautionary suspension to be implemented at such a late stage, rendering the
suspensnon unfair,

(supra) at para 12.

{201 6] JOL 37300 (LC) at para 56. See also Diadla v Council of Mbombela Local Municipality and
Another (2) (2008) 29 Il.J 1902 (I.C) at paras 18 and 21.
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basis for the suspension, even if at this stage it may be a subjective belief

based on as yet unsubstantiated allegations ...’

When it is true that there is a fair reason for precautionary suspension, the
second criteria comes into play. This relates to the issue of prejudice to the
employee and is linked to the requirement that the precautionary suspension
must be on full pay. Where the suspension is on full pay, prejudice to the
employee is curtailed and it will not readily be seen to be unfair.?* Suspension
without pay is of course possible, for example where it is provided for in a
contract of employment, collective agreement or agreed dis"c':'iplinary code and
procedure,” but then in that case the issue of prejudice_ would normally be
mitigated by a limited period of suspension or othék conditions imposed in
these regulatory measures, so as to mitigate prejudice "':B.ut. as a matter of
principle, and to satisfy the second fairness cntena in the case of

precautionary suspensions, it shouid be on full pay

It is often suggested that the mere éct of suspension causes a presumption of
guilt of the employee with . thlrd partles and the suspension results in
reputational harm or profess:onal / career prejudlce where it comes to
incentive benefits, advancemen_t and the like. Although this may be so, it is
my view that these consideréti_ons cannot detract from the prerogative of an
employer to .E.r.istitute precautionary suspension. If these were valid
conside_rations,'then virtually all .precautionary suspensions would always be
unfair. 'As long _aS__e_m__pioyer complied with the first requirement of a valid
reason as set out above, and the suspension is on full pay, these kind of
considerations should not be relevant in deciding the faimess of a

precautionary suspension.

In Madzonga®, albeit in the context of an urgent application challenging a

suspension, the Court said:

*2 Dladla v Council of Mbombela Local Municipality and Another [2008) 8 BLLR 751 (LC) at para 41.
** See South African Breweries Lid (Beer Division) v Woolfrey and Others (1989) 20 ILJ 1111 (LC) at
paras 10 and 13; Sappi Forests (Pty) Ltd v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and
Gthers (2008) 30 ILJ 1140 (LC) at para 8; Department of Labour v General Public Service Sectoral
Bargammg Councif and Others (2010) 31 ILJ 1313 (LAC) at paras 32 — 33.

 Koka (supra) at 1027E - G; Singh v SA Rail Commuter Corporation Ltd t/a Metrorail (2007) 28 ILJ
2067 {LC} at paras 8 and 12

% (supra) at para 41.
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‘The next consideration is the issue of the possible reputational and
professional prejudice, together with possible prejudice in job advancement,
caused by the suspension of the applicant. | must immediately point out that
surely this is the case with each and very suspended employee. This would
always be the possible result of any suspension. If this would be a basis for
the Labour Court to intervene in suspension proceedings, then virtually all
suspension cases would be urgent and directly end up in the Labour Court.
This would fly in the face of the clear intentions of the legislature found in
specific provisions in the LRA dispute resolution process, and undermine the

effective and orderly resolution of employment disputes in the manner

prescribed by law ...’

And in Mosiane v Tlokwe City Councif’® the Court said;

‘... All employees who get dismissedfdr.éuépended and believe that they are
innocent, have their reputations tarnished by iheir diémiésais or suspensions,
They will eventually get an oppdﬁunity to be hearg where the employer should
justify the charges against them. Shpuld they fail to do s0, such employees will
be reinstated with no :_I:Css of benefits. | _abcept that some damage to their
reputations would have been done. This court however is not in the business

of ensuring that an employee'_s regﬁutation shouid not be tarnished. If so, it will

open the flood gates ...

Finally, and if there is a fair reason for the precautionary suspension, and this
suspension is on full pay, the third fairness criteria contemplates that the
duration of this suspension should not be unduly long. For example, and in
Ngwenya v Premfér of KwaZulu-NataF’ the Court said:

‘An employee cannot remain on suspension, which is a precautionary
measure, for an indefinite period of time and the State gladly pays the
employee for doing nothing. | am surprised that the State is willing and able to
pay people for doing nothing when it does not have money to pay those
performing their duties. If the suspension remains indefinitely and without

legitimate reason, the employee is entitled to approach the Court for the

°% (2009) 30 ILJ 2766 (LC) at para 17. See also Diadla (2) (supra) at para 43.
#12001] 8 BLLR 924 (LC) at para 42.
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uplifiment of the suspension and order the State to allow the employee to

resume his duties until such time that the enquiry is held ...’

What may be unduly long suspension is a question of fact, which inter alia
depends on the nature or scope of the pending investigation or proceedings.
To illustrate, where the matter concerns contemplated misconduct relating to
fraud which needs a detailed investigation and analyses of documents by a
third party auditor, is has to be expected the investigation would take longer to
complete and a longer precautionary suspension would be justified. On the
other hand, where the matter concerns alleged misconduc.:tﬁéf -assault and the
employee was suspended based on ameiioratiné' "the_ risk of further
disharmony in the work place, the institution of disc':ip!in'ar_y proceedings should
not take too long and the suspension would be,: much s_ho'r"’fer. Where it is in
question in unfair labour practice proceedings whether the duration of the
suspension is too long, the duty w_quidﬂ pe on ihe.'emplayer to provide an

acceptable explanation for the peridd concerned.

In summary, precautionarj Su'spension, ev_e,ﬁ though it is not disciplinary
action, can therefore still be an_gyrifair_labour practice, if there is no fair reason
for it, if it causes undue prejud_icé to the employee, or if it endures inordinately

long without prﬁbér expla_qation'for the duration.

In the case of éus_pension as a disciplinary action or sanction, then of course
ail the proce_durai'faimesﬂs requirements relating to disciplinary proceedings
under the LRA must be observed, which would include audi alteram partem
and the apb!icatibh of the provisions of Schedule 8 of the LRA relating to fair

disciplinary proceedings and sanctions.

I now turn, in applying all the above principles, to the facts of this case, and in
particular, the reasoning of arbitrator Sonamzi. It should be ciear from what |
have said above that anger on the part of the employer or motivations based
on humiliating the employee can never be valid reasons for precautionary
suspension, however, a pending investigation and disciplinary process would
be. This arbitrator Sonamzi properly and correctly appreciated. The arbitrator
accepted that there was an investigation process underway, and that the

applicant was ‘justified’ in suspending the first respondent whilst this was
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underway. The arbitrator concluded that there was a valid reason for the
suspension of the first respondent. In my view, there can be no fault in this

reasoning, and the first criteria in establishing a fair suspension has been met.

| may add that the first respondent himself conceded under cross examination
that the misconduct as articulated by the applicant to be investigated would
indeed be serious misconduct. This would certainly justify suspension

pending the conclusion of the investigation.

Arbitrator Sonamzi then dealt with the issue of the duration of the suspension.
He concluded that it was unreasonably long, and thus _b_eoame what he called
‘punitive’.  This reasoning is in my view fundamenta!iy _ﬂavr__ed, Precautionary
suspension, as said, is not punitive. The fact that it mé'y "éo'ntinue for longer
than what would be considered to be falr does not transform it into being
punitive. Simply put, the duration of the precautfonary suspensmn can either
be fair or unfair, and in deciding thas in casu, as | have dealt with above, would
depend on considering the nature of the mvest_rgation and the explanation

submitted by the applicant f@fih? dureti__on of the suspension.

Arbitrator Sonamazi gave three reasons for his conclusions on the issue of the
duration of the suspensmn be;ng cons;dered by him to be unfair. Firstly, the
period from 21 May 201__3 to 19 August 2013 (some three months) was
considered by.'him to be too Iong Secondly, the applicant did not keep the
first respondent up to speed with the progress of the investigation. Thirdly,
there was nothlng preventing the applicant from having a ‘simultaneous
hearing’ for the first respondent with the other managers also disciplined.

What is immediately apparent from this reasoning of arbitrator Sonamzi is a
complete absence of any consideration concerning the nature of the pending
process and investigation, as well as the explanation provided by the applicant
for the period of suspension. As | have said, these are the most important
considerations. | simply cannot accept that in merely not keeping an
employee ‘up to speed’ on what is happening in an investigation, where there
is actually a proper ongoing investigation in existence, could be seen to be
unfair. Of course, an empioyee that is not being appraised of what is
happening whist he or she languishes on suspension may be justified in

retaliating by referring an unfair labour practice dispute based on suspension
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to the CCMA. But even in such a case the employer would be entitled to
explain why matters were taking so long, and if justified, the suspension period
would still be considered to be fair. Finally in this respect, it was clear from the
evidence that the first respondent himself, despite initially strongly expressing
his dissatisfaction about being suspended, never really regularly followed up
on the status of the investigation and the pending disciplinary proceedings

contemplated against him. Surely he also had a duty to follow up.

In the circumstances of what actually transpired in this . case, especially
considering the scope of what had happened as a catalyé.t. fo all the events
that followed, and the number of senior managers jnvb%ved, i: simply cannot
accept that the three month suspension period is u_nduly_ }ingthy. It was clear
from the evidence that throughout this period, there Was__ .n:éygzr.a' case that the
proceedings had stalled or that there was nq_t_hi__h’g going.:t)n__, 1 accept that the
investigation was extensive and ong_oi_ng'.”_: There w_aé at a_l_f'-times action being
taken by the applicant, either in the:.-'f;jrm of the actéj_al investigation, thereafter
firstly disciplining other managers i'h_voived, B'éfo_re_"finalty turning to the first

respondent,

Further, the applicant in my vnew provided a proper explanation for the
suspension pe;_ri_o_d_és’ .._weli.zé : .From_thié explanation, which was in essence
uncontested, t:here was an_ext_e._nsive ongoing investigation which, as | have
said above, _i_r__wOi__v_ed a ﬁbmbef of senior employees in the district. Also, head
office héd_tc_;____.be_c_:bme ._in'volved in the matter. There were a number of
dis'ciplf;n_ary héaring__s that needed to be held, and the first respondent was at
the end _o_f_ this chai.n. Considering the first respondent’s seniority and position,
he would be in the position to influence any investigation, which was a risk to
the applicant. Also it was deemed prudent in the interest of what was called
‘busines.s. continuity’ to suspend the first respondent until the end of the
process. These are all valid considerations, and as said above, it was
accepted by arbitrator Sonamzi himself that the suspension was for a valid

reason. In Madzonga®® it was held:

%% A portion of the transcript relating to the evidence of Ms Van der Waal is missing, but the
explanation offered could be ascertained from the cross examination of the first respondent and Ms
Van der Waal which is recorded, the written argument of the parties, as well as the notes of arbitrator
Sonamazi,

%% (supra) at para 43. See also Phutiyagae v Tswaing Local Municipality (2006) 27 ILJ 1921 (LC) at
para 27 - 28.
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‘| also need to make reference to the seniority and influence of the position of
the applicant. This was an important issue to the respondent when it
considered whether or not to suspend the applicant. The fact is that the
investigation the respondent has stated it would pursue would encompass a
detailed investigation in the legal department, and as a necessary
consequence, interviewing of the employees employed there. Considering
that this investigation process is directly aimed at the applicant, it is a matter of
simple logic that his continued presence at work would be, at the very least,
extremely uncomfortable for the subordinates of the a_p_piicant in the legal
department. The applicant’'s seniority also creates a _risk that he could be in a
position to possibly tamper with evidence or infiue__hcé subordinates, being a

case pertinently made out by the respondent. ..." . _

In all these circumstances, it is simply _u_nt"e{_lable 'to_ suggest that the

suspension period was unduly long to thé _exterit of rendering it unfair.

Arbitrator Sonamzi was critical of th'é_ applicént’s decision not to have held the
first respondent's disciplinary hearing along w:ihthe other managers. This
criticism is entirely unfqurided,”and tanté'mourif to undue interference by the
arbitrator with the manner in wﬁibh the applicant chose to roil out disciplinary
proceedings. It is simp_ly not for the _arbitrator o say who was to be disciplined
when and wh"e'e"'e., and .then_ bag;e a finding of unfairness on this view. The
appiica_n_t_ _hg_s th_e right to cohduct the process in the manner it considered
prudent'.. It snght to discipline the other managers first, and deal with the first
respondent ai._fhe end. There is simply nothing wrong or unfair with this.

in all of the above circumstances, the findings of arbitrator Sonamzi where it
comes to the duration of the suspension fails to account for material facts. It
negated':the most important applicable considerations in deciding this criteria
relating to the fairness of precautionary suspensions. As such, the findings
are materially irrequiar. Considering what the arbitrator should have
considered, the conclusions he arrived at in this respect would be an

unreasonable outcome, and thus reviewable.

This then only leaves the issue of audi alteram parfem. According to arbitrator
Sonamzi, it was unfair to suspend the first respondent without giving him the

opportunity to first show cause prior to being suspended, as to why he should
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not be suspended. This conclusion however fails to recognize the clear
distinction between suspensions as part of discipline, and suspension as a
precautionary measure. The matier at hand concerned precautionary
suspension. As | have fully dealt with above, in the case of precautionary
suspensions, there is no right to show cause prior to suspension as to why the
employee should not be suspended. As long as the three criteria discussed
above are met, the precautionary suspension would be fair. That was
certainly the case in casu. The arbitrator’s reliance on audi alteram partem to
find the suspension to be unfair is completely misp_léced, and thus
unsupportive of the conclusion he came to. Equ_al_ly',' t:his_: reasoning is

reviewable.

| may just add that arbitrator Sonamzi was also crl‘itipall ﬁéf___t._he'fact that the
applicant did allow the first respondent to maké "’represé'ntatibhs, only after it
had been decided to suspend him.___THé_comﬁ?e_té'amwér to this of course
would be that there was no oblig'étion on the é_p_plicant to give the first
respondent the opportunity to maké these rébres_eﬁfations in the first place.
But what | do wish to add is that this Court in Diadfa®™ has in any event said
that to allow an employee_té"m_ai;{e__r@preseht'étions on the issue of suspension
after the decision to suspénd had _be'e'n made was in order, where it came to
compliance wit__h audi alteram p_a_'rtejm insofar as it may apply to suspensions,

by saying:

‘In -our law, audi _altéram partem can still be observed after the prejudicial

“:decision ..." -

Overall considered, the applicant had a fair and proper reason to suspend the
first respondent, which was a precautionary measure. Any prejudice to the
first respondent was mitigated by the fact that the suspension was on full pay.
The period of suspension, all considered, was not unduly long and properly
justified. In the circumstances, the criteria in establishing a fair precautionary
suspension had been met. The first respondent’'s suspension, in casu, was

thus not an unfair labour practice.

30(

supra) at para 39.
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Accordingly, the conclusion by arbitrator Sonamzi that the first respondent was
unfairly suspended by the applicant is unsustainable, on any ground. It is
irreguiarly arrived at, and is not a reasonable outcome. In is founded on a
material error of law, having a direct impact on the outcome arrived at,
rendering it unreasonable. In Democratic Nursing Organisation of SA on
behalf of Du Toit and Another v Western Cape Department of Health and
Others®' it was said;

‘Since the advent of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa 1996 (the
Constitution), the concept of review is sourced in the jysfificétéons provided for
in the Constitution and, in particular, that couris are"'gi.v'én the pbwer to review
every error of law provided that it is material; that is that ;fh_e___error affects the

outcome. ...’

The error of law perpetrated by arbltrator Sonamzt m thiS case indeed had the

consequence as articulated in the aforesafd dfctum in Du Toit.

The only reasonable outcome in thls case could have been that the first
respondent was not unfairly . suspended and ‘that his unfair labour practice
claim be dismissed. As such the award of arbitrator Sonamzi falls to be

reviewed and set aside.

Evaluation: Th_e_unfair dismissal

[76]

[77]

| will now turn to the award of arbitrator Mbuli concerning the unfair dismissal
of thé first reépondent by the applicant. | do not intend to rehash in detail all of
the facts r_eféting to all the problems with the fleet in the border district. Suffice
it to say, in the end, it was undeniable that indeed there were serious problems

with the f'l'e'et in the district and the management thereof.

As touched on above, abitrator Mbuli rejected the first respondent’s case
relating to procedural unfairness and the case that the dismissal of the first

respondent constituted inconsistent application of discipline. In the absence of

31(2016) 37 ILJ 1819 (LAC) at para 21. See also Xstrata SA (Pty) Ltd (Lydenburg Alloy Works) v
National Union of Mineworkers on behalf of Masha and Others (2016) 37 ILJ 2313 (LAC) at para 12;
MacDonald's Transport Upington (Pty) Ltd v Association of Mineworkers and Construction Union and
Others (2016) 37 IL.J 2593 (LAC) at para 30; Head of Department of Education v Mofokeng and
Others {2015) 36 ILJ 2802 (LAC) at para 32.
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any cross review, these findings stand and | shall have no regard to these
issues any further. Also, and on review when the matter was argued before
me, the applicant did not persist with challenging the other charges relating to
the labour brokers used and bringing the company name into disrepute. | shall

therefore not consider these issues in this judgment as well.

In my view, the only issue that remains to be decided is fairly crisp, and this is
whether the first respondent failed in his duties and responsibilities relating to
the management of the fleet in the border district, to the extent of it being

considered a dereliction of his duties, thereby justifying his d'is_m_issaf.

As | have said above, there can be no doubt, on the evidence, that the
management of the fleet in the border district was in é..___s_téié -of disarray.
Difficuities included the use of unlicenceq_-.\_lehip_le's__Qn public roads, and worse
stifl, the use of vehicles with fraudulent licence "disk"s.__.'_l'_.hére was a problem
with maintenance of vehicles. There abp_e_ared to be a complete lack of
management and control where it c.ém_e to this fieet..'. Arbitrator Mbuli himseif
accepted that all of this gw_'a's indeed the case. in the end, an unlicenced
vehicle was then involved in a fa:ta__f_ road accident. Without doubt, this entire
situation was completely Q'hacdéptabzlé, and exposed the applicant to material
risk and prejudice. ”fhe___.onty :remaining logical question was — who must be

held responsible?

It was Qndis_pgt_ed that __the first respondent was overall responsible for all
opefatiqns in the district, which included the management of the fleet. But it
was simi.lériy undisputed that he was not directly responsible for the fleet
managerﬁent, per se. The district in fact had a fleet manager, being Adams,
and a fleet supervisor, being Ernston. These two employees were directly
responéible for the management and control of the fleet. It may also be added
that both these employees were indeed held accountable by the applicant for
the above situation, and both were dismissed. This now leads one to the next
step in the enquiry — can these failures by these employees be in any way
imputed on the first respondent, to the extent of exposing him to dismissal for
gross negligence or dereliction of duties? Or, differently put, does the fact that
other managers are directly responsible for the fleet excuse the first
respondent from being held responsible and accountable?
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in short, arbitrator Mbuli answered the above questions in the negative.
According to the arbitrator, the employees directly responsible for the fleet
were the accountable and responsible employees. The arbitrator reasoned
that although the first respondent was overall accountable for the district, it
could not have been expected of him to be entirely hands on, so to speak,
having regard to the direct responsibility and duties of the employees
responsible for fleet management. As far as the arbitrator was concemned, the
first respondent was entitled to place trust in his subordinate employees
responsible for fleet management that the tasks concerned ‘were properly

carried out.

Arbitrator Mbuli further reasoned that the first respondent had properly dealt
with the problems with the fleet by S|mpiy givmg hls subordlnates instructions
in this regard, and then trusting in them to carry it out... According to the
arbitrator, there was no obligation on the' first res'porad.en:.to become directly
involved and follow up on the resolution of the problems with the fleet. The
arbitrator also held that the ﬂrst respondent had been given reports by his
subordinates that all was in o_rder_ where it came to the fleet, and that he was
entitled to rely on those rep_or'ts"_w'ithout guestion. The arbitrator further held
that it had to be considered that this all happened at the busiest time of the
year at the appltcant when ail .employees were focussing on their primary
duties. In short, arbatrator Mbuh accepted that the first respondent had properly
discharged his duties, was in essence mislead by his subordinates, and thus

cornr_nit_ted no misconduct of dereliction of duties.

Arbitrator Mbufi however went further and held that even if the first respondent
had transgressed, there was no proper evidence of the break down in the trust
relationship and considering that the first respondent was not directly
responsible and had in reality been duped by his subordinates, his dismissal,
as a sanction, was not justified. According to the arbitrator, the transgression
of the first respondent would not be serious enough to justify dismissal. As far
as the arbitrator was concerned, this was a case where progressive discipline

was required.

At the heart of the applicant’'s case, in challenging the above reasoning of
arbitrator Mbuli, is that the arbitrator failed to have due and proper regard to
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what is required of a senior manager such as the first respondent, in the
business of the applicant. As touched on above under the review grounds
raised by the applicant, it is the applicant’s case that it is untenable for a senior
manager such as the applicant to simply pass on instructions to his
subordinate managers and trust without qualification that these instructions
would be carried out. The applicant's case further is that it was equally
untenable for the first respondent to simply rely, also without question, on what
he is then told about the fleet, without any attempt to check or verify this for
himself. The applicant has also taken issue with the fact__t_hét the issue with
the fleet was not an issue in the normal course of duties, 50 to speak, but was
a unique and exceptional circumstance and problem whlch required the direct
intervention and attention of the first respondent. Acco'rdidé to the épplicant,
arbitrator Mbuli committed what the applicant catied a ‘fundamental

misdirection’ in failing to appreciate all of thls rendenng has award reviewable.

In assessing the review case of the 'applécant_, it is true that both the applicant
and the first respondent called Witnesses to. té'stify about what wouid
reasonably and properly be expected of the fII‘St respondent, in the business of
the applicant. The apphcant called an experlenced district manager, Peter
Pienaar (‘Pienaar’), and the ger;eral manager for the Northern region (who
was also a district manager for five years), being Francois Malan (‘Malan’), to
testify. The fil;s_t respbndént cat!_éd his former superior, Johann Krige (‘Krige’),
who was'_"”fhe_ _gelhe_rai manager for the Cape Region and no lfonger employed

by the applicant, to testify.

Both Pienaar and Maian, on the one hand, and Krige on the other, appeared
to have Zdiametrically opposed views of what was expected of the first
respondent. As far as Pienaar was concerned, the failure by the first
respondent to have become directly and intimately involved in the issue of the
fleet problem was a fundamental failure which should lead to his dismissal.
Malan (also the appeal chairperson of the first respondent’'s appeal hearing)
said that a district manager in the case such as this, where it comes to these
problems with the fleet cannot, just send e-mails and expect tasks to be
carried, but had to become directly involved and check for himself what had
happened. Krige's view was however that the first respondent did nothing

wrong, because the first respondent did address the issue with his responsible
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subordinates and was entitled to expect that they carry out their work and not
mislead him as to the steps actually taken. According to Krige, there was no
need for the first respondent to become directly and personally involved in the

issue with the fleet.

Which of these two cases where it came to what was expected of the first
respondent, is then to be preferred? Arbitrator Mbuli accepted, without
reservation, the testimony of Krige, finding it to be ‘clear, credible and
coherent’. But unfortunately, and having so found, the arbit_r__ator never dealt
with, assessed, or determined the testimony of Malan and 'P'i.e_naar. In fact, if
one reads the award of arbitrator Mbuli where he reasons an outcome, it look
as if only the first respondent and Krige testified becé'u_gfe__;_t_hg evidence of no
one else is dealt with. Arbitrator Mbuli needed to %hé\'/é_;ma'de_ a properly
reasoned credibility and reliability enquiry and __f__iﬁdi_p_g, where it came to all the
witnesses that testified before him, and in part.iéulér"Mala_ﬁ'and Pienaar. He
needed to evaluate the evidence of;_éi'l' the Witnesse$ against one another, and
indicate which version he preferred and why. Th_e a:fbitrator’s complete failure
to do so is in my view a n’ié'ter__i:ai failure on his part. As was said in Saso/
Mining (Pty) Ltd v Nggeleni NO and __Others32:' B

‘One of the gomm_i_ssioné'r's___pri:me functions was {o ascertain the truth as to the
conflicting vefsions:'b_efore him. The commissioner was obliged at least to
make _sori:n_e attempt to assess the credibility of each of the witnesses and to
méke some . observation on their demeanour. He ought also to have
_considé?éd the ﬁrﬁépects of any partiality, prejudice or self-interest on their
'part, and d_etefmined the credit to be given to the testimony of each witness by
reason of ifs inherent probability or improbability. He ought then to have
considered the probability or improbability of each party's version. The
cth‘uissioner manifestly failed to resolve the factual dispute before him on

this basis. ...’

2(2011) 32 ILJ 723 (LC) at para 7. In SFW Group Ltd and Another v Marteli et Cie and Others 2003
(1) SA 11 (SCA) at para 5, the Court said the following as to how to assess credibility; *...the court's
finding on the credibility of a particular witness will depend on its impression about the veracity of the
witness. That in turn will depend on a variety of subsidiary factors, not necessarily in order of
importance, such as (i) the witness’ candour and demeanour in the witness-box, (i) his bias, latent and
blatant, (iii) internal contradictions in his evidence, (iv) external contradictions with what was pleaded
or put on his behalf..., (v) the probability or improbability of particular aspects of his version, (vi) the
calibre and cogency of his performance compared to that of other witnesses testifying about the same
incident or events. ... a witness’ reliability will depend, apart from the other factors mentioned under (a)
(i}, (iv) and (v} above, on (i) the opportunities he had to experience or observe the event in question
and (i) the guality, integrity and independence of his recall thereof. ..
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It was thus essential for arbitrator Mbuli to have made these kind of
determinations as articulated in Saso/ Mining, especially considering the
directly contradicting views as to what was expected of the first respondent
where it came to managing the fleet, which lay at the very heart of this case.
The failure to do so means that arbitrator Mbuli acted irregularly by not
properly discharging his duties. In Blitz Printers v Commission for Conciliation,
Mediation and Arbitration and Others® the Court held as follows in finding the

award of an arbitrator to be reviewable:

. The second respondent, had he discharged his duties properly, was
compelled to determine this conflicting evidence __anq._::'::thus décide what
evidence to accept, and what to reject. The §econd res'p.ibh_d.a“ht had to assess
credibility and probabilities and come_);_q_a_piibper and r_t__aa.s'dned finding as to
what evidence to accept. The secondi_;;_fé.spbﬁdgnt. did none of this ...’

But deciding between two such opbosing Cases Cénnot just be done on the
basis of the credibility and rellablltty of wstnesses that testify. What must also
be considered is the Inherent probablhtles The determination of
probabilities entails an mference to be drawn from the evidence as a whole, on
the basis of what the Court said in SA Post Office v De Lacy and Another™:

‘The proéess of in:feren.t'ial réasoning calls for an evaluation of all the evidence
and not mere[y selected parts. The inference that is sought to be drawn must
be conmstent W|th aII the proved facis. Hf it is not, then the inference cannot be
g drawn and it ‘must be the 'more natural or plausible, conclusion from among

several conceivable ones' when measured against the probabilities.’

it is clear that what was expected of arbitrator Mbuli was to arrive, on a

properly reasoned basis, at the most natural, plausible and logical inference,

3312015] JOL 33126 (LC) at para 37.
* See SFW Group (supra) at para 5; National Union of Mineworkers and Another v Commission for

Conciliation, Mediation and Arbftratfon and Others (2013) 34 ILJ 945 (LC) at para 34; Mphigalale v
Safely and Security Sectoral Bargaining Council and Others (2012) 33 ILJ 1464 (LC) af para 12; Saso/
Mining (supra) at para 8.

2009 (5) SA 255 (SCA) at para 35
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out of a number of possible inferences, on the evidence as a whole. In Bates

and Lloyd Aviation (Pty) Ltd v Aviation Insurance Co®® the Court said:

‘The process of reasoning by inference frequently includes consideration of
various hypotheses which are open on the evidence and in civil cases the
selection from them, by balancing probabilities, of that hypothesis which
seems to be the most natural and piausible (in the sense of acceptable,

credible or suitable).’

This dictum in Bates was applied in Food and Allied l_{i_/_o_fkers Union and

Others v Amalgamated Beverage Industries Ltd®” as fO:[_iQWS:

‘The fact that the evidence is consistent with the inférep_ce_:squght to be drawn
does not of course mean that it is necessarily the -c_o_rréci_ inference. A court
must select that inference which is the ._r_noré.plausibie__or natural one from

those that present themselves ...’

The award of arbitrator Mbuli reﬂect'é a complete abéence of any reasoning in
assessing probabilities, or of conductlng any. reasonsng based on inferences
drawn having due regard to all the evidence, as a whole. As stated above,
this was indeed expected of hlm In Minister of Safety and Security and
Another v Madikane and Ol‘:'vers38 the Court said the following about these

kind of faalures

! ..."the__ihférence sought to be drawn could only be drawn in the light of all of
the evidence. -i_n my view, the court a quo erred in finding that despite the third
.'res_po:ndent Having ignored evidence material to the issue, his conclusion,
cdhéeming the inference to be drawn, was reasonable. The third respondent's

conclusion on the inference to be drawn is based on a material misdirection.

The court a gquo was at pains to point out that if it had been dealing with an
appeal it would have been more inclined to say that the arbitrator's conclusion

on the probabilities was wrong "when all the evidence is properly weighed".

%1985 (3) SA 916 (A) at 9391-). See also Kgoadi v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and
Arbrtranon and Others [2014] JOL 31908 (LC) at para 60.

(1994) 15 1LJ 1057 (LAC) at 1064C-E. See also Minister of Safety and Security v Jordaan Va Andre
Jordaan Transport (2000) 21 ILJ 2585 (SCA) at para 9; Dunfop Mixing and Technical Services (Pty)
Limited and Others v National Union of Metalworkers of South Africa on behalf of Nganezi and Others
£2016} 10 BLLR 1024 (LC) at para 75; National Union of Mineworkers (supra) at para 37.

(2015) 36 1LJ 1224 (LAC) at paras 45 - 46,
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The courl a quo seemed thereby to suggest, or imply that, because of the test
for reviews (which is different to that of appeals) a failure to weigh all the
evidence and probabilities, in deciding whether to draw inferences, was
reasonable. That approach cannot be correct. The failure to weigh all of the
relevant evidence and the probabilities to draw inferences and make findings
cannot be said to be reasonable. It is not only wrong not to take into account

alt of the relevant evidence but is also unreasonable and clearly what a

reasonable decision-maker would not do.’

Based on the above, and in summary, it is in my view_;:cleer that arbitrator
Mbuli's award constitutes a gross irregularity, in that the arbitrator failed to
deal with or even consider material evidence, did not 'i"e__tione__ll_y and reasonably
evaluate and determine the evidence, and made no"prooer.-b.mbab_?’_ity findings
where it came to which of the mutually contradictory c.éses. of. the two parties
had to be accepted and why. In effect, aII the arbltrator d;d was to regurgitate
parts of the evidence led, when mak!ng hrs uEtlmate flndlng, and then simply
making conclusions without deductive reasonmg - These kind of failures
simply cannot be said to be __ihe___conduct of a reasonable decision maker.

That being said, and thenbonsiae_f'in'g the review test as articulated above, the
next question to answer is whether.these failures as set out above have the
consequence of rendering the outcome arrived at by arbitrator Mbuli to be
unreasonabie even on other grounds, if the evidence as a whole, which
mcludes a probabrlity assessment is then properly considered and done?
Thls would of course entail this Court considering the evidence as a whole, in
order to make an assessment which of the two versions are to be accepted
applying t:he SFW Group test of credibility, reliability and probabilities.

Before Iooking at the actual testimony presented, there are two crucial issues
to first consider. The first consideration is the actual nature of the problem that
arose in this case. In my view, it was not a day to day, normal course
operational issue, where one could reasonably say that it cannot be expected
that the first respondent as district manager should be aware of all the daily ins
and outs of the management and operation of the fleet. | accept that in the
normal course, it would be the fleet manager and supervisor that would deal

with day to day operational problems and fleet management, and it cannot be
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expected of the first respondent, considering all his other overall
responsibilities in the district, to follow up in detail on all these activities. But
the current problems with the fleet was not a normal operational issue in the
normal course. It was a unique and serious problem. It required specific and
detailed intervention. This makes the applicant's point that in this specific
respect, the first respondent should have paid close and detailed attention,

very appealing.

It is clear from the undisputed evidence that by December 2012, the first
respondent was very much aware of these probiems andjhéw serious it was,
and instructed inter alia the fleet manager by e-mail in December 2012 to
immediately do something about this. But considéring ihe nature of the
problem, and the risk it posed to the applicant, this smguiar interventlon by the
first respondent by e-mail is wholly madequate As a very senior manager,
responsible for the entire district, he should have actually dirtied his hands,
became directly involved, and ensured the problem was resolved. He should
not have left it entirely up to his subordmates under whose very tenure the
problem arose in the first: p!ace With the f;rst respondent’s immediate and
detailed involvement, the probiem W|th the fleet could easily have been

remedied very early in 2013

But on the und_isputed evidence,_it is apparent that after having instructed his
subordinates as aforesaid, the first respondent himself did very little about the
problem,. “fhe situa__ti_on s exacerbated by the very content of the first
res.pon_dent’s":.Dece_mber 2012 instruction, which required the maintaining of
daily spreadsheet'r'eports about steps taken, coupled with regular updates
from his shbordinates about progress in resolving the problems with the fleet.
These regular reports and updates were not forthcoming, and yet the first
respond'ent did nothing. The first respondent was only spurred into direct
action when the fatal accident, involving the unlicensed vehicle, happened in
May 2013. But in my view, this belated direct intervention was far too little, far
too late. The applicant adopted the view that considering the seniority of the
first respondent’s position, his overall responsibility, and what was expected of
him, he should fall on his sword. In my opinion, this view of the applicant was
entirely justified. In any event, the applicant is entitled to set the standards it

expects from its senior managers, and then measure and hold these
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managers accountable, against these standards. External interference in this
regard should only be competent if such standards are grossly unreasonable
or simply unattainable. In Brodie v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation

and Arbitration and Others™® the Court said:

‘There was never any issue raised by the applicant that what Andrews testified
to be the 'realistic expectation’ for the business was in any way unfair or
unreasonable in respect what was required of the applicant in this venture. In
any event, such standards may only be interfered with if grossly unreasonabie
or unattainable and no such case was presented ':::'Eéfo_re the second
respondent {see Piki and Development Action Gr_pup inc (2002) 23 ILJ 609
(CCMA); Wentworth and W H Saffer Ltd (2002) _23' iLJ 959 (CCIVIA)). As the
court said in Sun Couriers (Pty) Ltd v Commissidh fqr'Cthiﬁation, Mediation
& Arbitration & others: 'Employers are__e_nt_it.lecj:to se{"perférmance standards
and unless shown to be patentiy irrati'_ciihai“br un'real__is__;tic, courts will be siow to

interfere with them. The required standa_rd in thié__.insté'hé'é was entirely valid ...

[97] | will tumn next to the testirhbhy_of Piéhaar:,_:y\}ho was clear in his testimony
about what is expected of the ﬁ_r.ét_rg_e__spondent in the case of a problem such
as the one existing with thé‘border district fleet, Pienaar is a currently serving
as a senior district ménager. Pienaar testified that for a failure such as the
one that occurred in this case, the first respondent should have expected to
have beén di_smis___s_e_d. According to Pienaar, the first respondent needed to
personally in_yéStigaie thé.'t the problem had been resolved and had to ensure
that t.he problem was immediately resolved. Pienaar in fact explained how the
first respoﬁdent 'éhould have effectively utilized all the resources and
personnel at his disposal to resolve the problem, which according to Pienaar
the first réspondent simply did not do. Pienaar added that the first respondent
should have kept his own manager appraised, throughout, on what he was
doing where it came to this problem, which he also did not do. Pienaar

summarized the situation as thus:

‘I would be personally involved. 1 think that that's important because we're not
experts on the fleet and that's important, you know, but you should get your

%9 (2013) 34 ILJ 608 (LC) at para 43.
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hands dirty. You need to take accountability for what's happening in your

district.’

Malan fully substantiated the view of Pienaar. Malan explained that the
physical presence of the first respondent on the ground, for the want of a
better description, would in itself place the necessary pressure on
subordinates to immediately and properly resolve the problem and would
indicate how serious the problem was and how important it was to solve it.
Malan further added that the failure of the first respondent in this case was the
kind of failure that completely destroyed the trust relattonship between the

applicant and the first respondent.

When | consider the testimony of Pienaar and Malan. a.s":it.eobears from the
arbitration transcript, | can find no feassbie reason why that testlmony should
not be accepted. These w1tnesses ful!y corroborated one another in all
material respects, where it came to what was actualty expected of the first
respondent as district manager, and what the oonsequences of his failure
should be. ' '

Pienaar was principally oha_l_i_eﬁdeo under cross examination on the basis that
what he testified to was his'”owh"'-.views, and not that of the applicant as a
company. Bu't: 'Pierﬂaar_ Eem_aineq adamant that how he explained i, is how it
should be .d_on'e___by all 'djstrio't“" managers. He says, and in my view quite

appropriat_ely,_.af_t_er so_m_e__extensive cross examination, the following:

_You must understand | say get your hands dirty. What | meant by that to
make a — you can't sit back and just hope other people solve your problems.
It begins to sit and manage the process. You must go back say, guys give me
feedback. What have we done there, what have we done here? You can't just
sit there and say. Somebody else do the job for me. You're the senior

executive.’

Pienaar also provided proper answers for his view that despite it being the
direct duty of the fleet manager and supervisor to manage the fleet on a day to
day basis, the district manager always remains accountable. Pienaar was
also willing to concede issues such as the December busy period and that the

duties of the district manager had a particular emphasis on sales. But Pienaar
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provided a proper answer why this did not excuse the first respondent, even

though other persons were also at fault.

Overall, Pienaar fared well under extensive cross examination. He answered
gquestions succinctly, and directly. He was not argumentative. As stated
above, he made concessions where justified. | could also find no internal

contradictions in his evidence, which remained consistent throughout.

Malan was extensively cross examined. In particular, he was pressed to
answer for what exact reason, according to him, the first respondent was

dismissed, considering he was the appeal chairperson. He answered:

‘He was fired for the reason that him as a Iea:_c_ie:k"f:s__hou!d have taken
accountability, prevent any illegal gpnd_l%?f"an_d théi is the way that he
managed the fleet, that's the way of the .ﬁe__e__{’.s' cgnd_ifion. So he's go a
leadership accountability here to é’nsd'fé._.at the end of the day there’s no legal

transgression.’ (sic)

As said, Malan corrobora._téd the views of Pienaar where it came to the need
for the first respondent to bec_omé'dihfeCtiy and personally involved and what
was expected of him in his leadership role, in all material respects.

Malan was ..gls..c___p_reparéd_ to make concessions under cross examination, if
jus:’;_iﬁed; For example he conceded that the first respondent was found guilty
of g:j:r'o'ss__d_eré:l'i_ction_ of his own duties and not based on some form of collective
misconduct. - He"also conceded that it could not be said that the first
respondérﬁ actually knew that unlicenced trucks were being used and wilfully
turned a blind eye to this, and that he did do some things rights where it came
to dealing with the problem. But overall considered, Malan remained
consistent in his view that the first respondent should have become personally
involved to a far larger degree, remained accountable for what happened, and

his dismissal was justified.

Krige testified that sales and service was the focus of the duties of a district
manager. But he did concede that the district manager was overall
responsible for the fleet as well. Krige testified that as far as he was
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concerned, all the first respondent had {o do when he became aware of
problems with the fleet was to e-mail the responsible manager with
instructions to resolve the problem. He stated it was not expected that the first
respondent had to follow up on this, once he gave the instruction. Krige
however conceded under cross examination that it was up to the applicant to
decide where to ‘cut off, as Krige called it, responsibility when ultimately

holding employees accountable for failures.

Under cross examination, certain aspects of Krige's testimony in the
disciplinary hearing were put to him to comment on. Whéh confronted with
these extracts of what he said, Krige conceded that the first réSpondent was
accountable ‘in full’ for the fleet as well. In partlcular Krlge had used the
analogy that a district manager must ‘every now and agaln they must go and
open the cupboards and go and have a logk. whats inside because you kKnow just
because there’s no rats there may be. Thats part of doing your job" (sic). Krige
conceded he made this statement m the dlSClpllnary hearlng and stated he still
held this view. Krige answers under Cross exam_l_natlon, with reference to the
first respondent: *... So you know, was he accountable? Yes. Was he part of the
solution? Yes ...". These an'swers:do howe\)é'r'{éeem to contradict his view that
all the first respondent had. to do was instruct subordinates and then accept

what is reported to hlm

A pertinent proposition is _the.n"put to Krige under cross examination, using the
positioniof__depot__r_ﬁanag_er.as an example. Depot managers also report directly
to the first féS_p_ond_ent. .It is put to Krige that it would be expected of the first
responde_nt_ to chec;:k on and manage the depot manager and make sure that
what the depot manager is reporting to him is correct and that the depot
manager runs the depot correctly. Krige agrees with this. It is then put to
Krige that if the first respondent did not do this, it would be dereliction of duty,
and again Krige agrees. Then, and realising what he just said, and without
even being asked a question, Krige states that ‘... the fact of the matter is that,
you know, the question has been identified by Allan and the greater team and was
being addressed, so that doesn't constitute a dereliction of duty’. This clearly
shows that Krige was not being honest and objective where it came to
testifying about what was in reality expected of the first respondent, and
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actually contradicted his own views in the interest of coming out in favour of

the first respondent in evidence.

In my view, Krige was far from the honest and candid witness arbitrator Mbuli
described in his award. His evidence contained several material
contradictions. He was predisposed to giving answers that favoured the first
respondent, even when those answers were not in response to the actual
questions asked and contradicted his own principal views. He sought to evade
conceding that what the first respondent did was derelic_t_i__on of duties, by
saying that different managers manage different things, dE_ff:é'rentIy, and that in
his own opinion, as opposed to what would the actual accepted standard in
the applicant, the first respondent did not derelict his__dhti_c_—;s. _..When pressed for
a proper answer on the issue of dereliction .. of dutses ‘he became
argumentative. And finally, it must be cqn_side{_é'd' that thé’re a:%e contradictions
between what Krige said in the discip_f_i_na'llfy_ heari.hg,”a'n_d_thgf'testimony he gave
in the arbitration. At least, and in the end, Krige.:_did concede that the first
respondent was indeed accountable for the probleﬁ%s with the fleet, and the

situation was one that requiréd the ﬁrst"respc__anc_ient to take action.

Where it came to the tes”ti'monyiéf'the first respondent, and as said above, his
view was that he did all that Coufd reasonably be expected of him. He stated
that he was not_ direbtly accountable for fleet management. He testified that he
instructed his su_b_ordina.'tes, w.hé had the direct responsibility where it came to
the ﬂeet, and he was entitled to trust them to carry out the instructions he
gaVe_. ‘He sféfed that when he was told all was in order and the problem had
been resolved, he had no reason to doubt this, Taking this testimony as it
stands, | must confess that | have several difficulties with this kind of

explana_tion, which | will deal with later in this judgment.

As a witness, the first respondent did not fare as well as Pienaar and Malan
did. He was often argumentative. It was put to him under cross examination
what Pienaar testified as to what would be required of him, for his answer
thereto. His answer was that this was Pienaar's own views, without even
recognizing the logic in these views. The first respondent remained adamant
that as long as he had capable subordinates to do the work, he was entitied to

trust them, and accept that when they say all is in order, it is so. The first
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respondent was simply unwilling to concede, in the face of the undisputed
evidence that what he was told by his subordinates was not true, that with the
benefit of hindsight he actually could and should have done more. Despite
contending that he was ‘accountable’, the first respondent then in effect
contradicted this concession by saying that all accountability meant to him was
doing what he did in this instance, and instruct subordinates. In the end, the
first respondent was asked under cross examination how he, as in effect the
managing director of the district, would ensure what is required with regard to
the fleet is actually being done, and the following ansvy_er is in my view
iluminating: ‘Myself, | rely on them to tell me that it's being d_oné.’ In my view, that

tells the story of dereliction of duty.

I have little hesitation in saying that where it came tb' wit.r'i'es_s testimony, the
testimony of Pienaar and Malan should bé:’prefel_fr.éd over "t'hat df Krige and the
first respondent. In my view, Pienaar, in.' p_ar’(icufér, _p.r'operllgf and truthfully set
out what was expected of a distrié_t_ manager sucfx'_ as the first respondent,
where it came to the kind of problems with the___ﬂééf in the district as existed in

this case.

As a matter of general pri.ncipfe,“ '-.'I_ﬁnd' it hard to accept that a senior manager
such as the first r_e_qu_ndent overall completely in charge of a R1 billion
business _can._'pompet'entlly' -abd_i_éate responsibility like this, especially when
confronté.'d with a unique problem such as an irregular fleet. In my view, it was
expected of him td become directly involved, and then remain involved, until
the p.roblem was_r_ésoived, which should, all considered, have been a very

short term issue.

Even considering what the first respondent actually did, on his own version, it
is my view that this was the proverbial country mile short of what could be
considered to be reasonable for a manager in his position. To put his actual
interventions in the proper context: (1) he became alive to the problem in
December 2012; (2) he sent an e-mail on 21 December 2012 to inter alia the
fleet manager instructing that the problem had to be ‘immediately remedied’
with daily record keeping of what was being done and regular reports to him
(the first respondent);, (3) the first respondent never actually and directly
checked that the problem was immediately remedied, and no regular reports
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were sent to him which he did not foliow up on; (4) the first respondent sent e-
mails on 10 January 2013 with further instructions and demanded updates by
e-mail on 24, 29 January and 4 February 2013, but there is no evidence (save
for one instance on 25 January 2013) that he was ever given updates or that
he even followed up on this; (5) On 7 March 2013, the first respondent is sent
a report that the fleet issues were dealt with and there is ‘light at the end of the
tunnel’, but this is contradicted by another e-mail from the same manager on
the same date saying something else; and (6) the first respondent then left the

matter there, accepting all was in order.

What is entirely absent from the above chronology is actual and direct
involvement of the first respondent. [t simply canﬁdt___b?__ig_nored .that the
problems with the fleet arose under the very sé’m__e .'fn_ana:gers the first
respondent was now entrusting to solve -'-{h_e. p_robierﬁ, _Without his direct
involvement. And even when he asks ti;ne and agéfn fgr:réports, on his own
version, and these are not forthconj:i}ig, he still does not get directly involved.
Then, and when he is simply told by e-mail .on _T.March 2013 that the fleet
issues are resolved, without éhy __refererice_ to _de’,tail and the kind of particularity
the first respondent him_self _.:_reqq;fre_d fron{'{ﬁe outset, he takes this report
simply on face value withéut sééki_ng to verify if this was in fact so. | believe
that all this is a prime exampfe_of dereliction of duty. In National Union of
Mineworkers on behalf ."of Botsane v Anglo Platinum Mine (Rustenburg
Section)*® the C.o_ur’_( considered a similar situation and articulated the pertinent

question to be answered as follows:

‘The most pro.minent unanswered question in the account described above is
why. and how could the appellant think it was prudent to have preferred the
protestations of Van der Walt over the reports from Tsetse when he was
airéady aware that the oral feedback he got from his subordinates was
unreliable and had been previously proven to be blatantly false? Second, why

did he do nothing to address the abuse of the equipment that rendered it

dysfunctional?’

The comparisons to the matter in casu is in my view clear.

0 (2014) 35 ILJ 2406 (LAC) at para 18.
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It is known, as a matter of fact, that the problems with the fleet were never
resolved. There was an accident involving an unlicenced vehicle on 10 May
2013, and the first respondent was then only spurred into direct involvement.
A head office inspection foliowing that accident showed a number or
irregularities with the fleet that still existed. It thus took the accident for the
first respondent to appreciate what was always needed. The following dictum

from the judgment in Anglo Platinum®' is apposite:

‘... It is also perhaps appropriate to remark that the several revelations which
emerge from the evidence, not necessarily directly perﬁr‘ie.r::t to the culpability
of the appellant, point in the direction of the ma_négément of this mine as
having much to be embarrassed about. This perspebtiy@_,d_eriyes from not only
the dereliction evidenced by the conduct of the apbeilant hi_msélf, but from the
fact that a fatal accident occurred when _tw_o___l.ocp_s colli:de_d when the one loco
had not been commissioned for sé_fvice and its :_c_iriye_r__:was uncertified as

competent to have control of it. '

In this context, how hard couid it have been for the first respondent, upon
receiving a report on 7 March 2013 that the ‘fleet issues’ had been resolved, to
simply schedule personal detai'l'e:__d__ i.n's'pections at all the depots over a number
of weeks (if need to be) to Ch_eck if this was indeed so. Why would it be
necessary for:fan acéidgnt to __héppen first before decisive action was taken?
There can b.e_nb proper explanation for the failure of the first respondent in this

respect, which is §impiy_déreliction of duty.

I wish to add that at the conclusion of cross examination, the first respondent
finally made some concessions. He only made these concessions when being
confronted with the proposition that he showed no remorse for what

happened. He stated:

‘Okay, so let me clarify, we did drop the ball on the fleet, okay? That includes
me. Yes, | was the district manager as accountable for the district, okay? At
that point | was relying people on my executive, to be guiding me and
supporting me on this. We all dropped the ball. Yet | was the only person

held both accountable and responsible ...’

' (supra) at para 43.



[116]

[117]

44

This is surely an admission of misconduct. It must also be considered that the
contention by the first respondent that he was the only one held accountable
and responsible where it came to the fleet is also just not true. As set out
above, the fleet manager and supervisor, as well as the two depot managers,
were all held similarly accountable and responsible, and were dismissed. The

first respondent should face the same consequence.

Therefore, the reasoning of arbitrator Mbuli that the first respondent did all that
could be expected of him is thus completely unsustainabflé. "'ln_summary, the
problems with the fleet were a unique and particular i(ﬁcéu__r_rence, which as a
matter of common sense and logic, considering the fi.r”st_ __réqundenfs duties
and responsibilities towards the district he waé"t_i}e head ..of;"ifg:quired his direct
and personal intervention. The first regsp’dhdent:"s__effedﬁ__ve aeferral of the
intervention needed to the very sut:)qrdinét_es that 'we;}e the likely cause of the
problem in the first place defies ébmprehénsion. Had the first respondent
become directly and actively involved, and on the Qround so to speak, | have
litle doubt that all the pfé_:ble'rﬁs with the fleet would have been promptly
resolved and none of What was discovered after the accident in May 2013
would have come to pass. .'The first respondent thus committed dereliction of
his duties where it came to the fleet, and in finding to the contrary, arbitrator

Mbuli committed a gross and reviewable iregularity.

it was similaﬁy: énti_rel'y'u'ré.reasonable and unjustified to conclude that the first
respon'den_t_ was simply entitled to trust what he had been told by his
subordinateé. Again, this approach loses sight of the unique nature of the
problem with the fleet, which needed extra attention, and that the problem
arose u'n.d'er the tenure of these subordinates the first respondent now so
trusted. Also, and reasonably speaking, the lack of detailed reports
forthcoming from these subordinates in the format actually required by the first
respondent, despite his frequent e-mails asking for this, should have aroused
his suspicions, and must surely have motivated him to become personally
involved.*? And then, when he is told that all is well on the home front, despite
the complete lack of detailed feedback and another contradictory report on the

“2 Com pare Pernod Ricard SA (Pty) Ltd v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and
Others (2011) 32 ILJ 1198 (LC) at para 10.
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same date from the same manager, it must be expected that he would directly
and personally satisfy himself that this is indeed so. The approach propagated
by the first respondent in his defence, and then without hesitation ascribed to
by arbitrator Mbuli, is in my view, completely irreconcilable with what can
reasonably and properly be expected from a senior manager such as the first
respondent, occupying the position that he did, when faced with such a unique
problem, the existence and scope of which he was fully aware of. In Anglo

Platinum™ the Court said:

‘The appellant’s stance in denying culpability for gross neghgence betrays a
lack of grasp about the nature of his job. He was a manager and was
responsible to manage the programme of fitment. . To. this end, ie the
management of the programme, he failed properly to apply h:s mind. Despite
the acknowledgment in his testimony that he was requu'ed to use judgment, he
failed to do so. An znappropnate combinatlon of lgnorarzce of the hard facts
that he needed to manage effectlvety and an undue deference to feedback he
knew to be unreliable demonstrates his fac_:_}_g_. of judgment. He conducted
himself like a functionary not as a 'manager He misconstrued the practice of
the reliance by one manager on another manager for assurances, given orally
and anformally, and upon wh:ch further decisions are made. Such a practice
occurs within a _partlcu!ar context of a managerial ethos built upon a high
sense oﬁ_a.ach'Jn_t_aﬁiljf(y and yse of discretionary judgment. ...’

Inmy vi.éw, t'hi_s &ic__tum can directly be applied in casu. The first respondent’s
denial of wrd:néldoi_g;g"'daapied with a complete deferring of the problem to
subordihate_s, in th_é context where his position and the nature of the problem
required his' hands on intervention, demonstrates a complete fack of judgment

to the ext_ént of being a dereliction of duty.

In my view, it would in any event be completely inappropriate for the first
respondent to seek to rely on the consistent failures of the subordinates that
reported directly to him as a defence, especially considering that the first
respondent was alive to these failures as from December 2012. For the
problem to continue for as long as it did, without direct involvement of the first

respondent, demonstrates a dereliction of the duty to manage, which is one of

*3 (supra) at para 20.
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the first respondent’s direct and primary responsibilities. In Anglo Platinum™,

the Court held:

‘... it would be a paradox if the appellant could legitimately invoke the failure of
the very subordinates he was accountable to manage effectively to exonerate

or mitigate his managerial neglect by managing them ineffectively. ...’

In short, and on the evidence as a whole, and taking into account the seniority
and nature of his position, it is my view the first responden;:i_ndeed committed
dereliction of duties. Any conclusion that he did not commft 'th_is_ misconduct is
not supported by the relevant principles of law, ignore"s' pertinent evidence,
and simply a failure to have proper regard and consi_c___ieratig[f;:._io all thé material
facts, as a whole. The consequence of this is_an uhrgéls:onab:le award. As
said in Gold Fields Mining®: iy, R

‘... Where the arbitrator fails to have regar_d to the material facts it is likely that

he or she will fail to arrive at a reasonable decision. ...’

Arbitrator Mbuli, in excl_t_._id.in_g rﬁaterial evidence from consideration, acted
unreasonably. In Network _:Fiéfq’ M‘érketing (Pty) Ltd v Mngezana No and
Others™® the Court said: .

‘._.i"By _excluding thé_ applicant's evidence from serious consideration on this
unwar_rahted basis, the arbitrator effectively denied the applicant a fair hearing

“which émount_s to misconduct by the arbitrator in relation to his duties. ...’

The conclusion of arbitrator Mbuli that the first respondent did not commit the

misconduct of dereliction of duty thus falls to be reviewed and set aside.

What must next be dealt with is the conclusion by arbitrator Mbuli that even if
the first respondent did commit the misconduct concerned, this misconduct
was not serious enough to justify the dismissal, that there was no evidence of

the break down in the empiloyment relationship, and that progressive discipline

* (supra) at para 28.

“® (supra) at para 21. See also Pam Golding Properties (Pty) Ltd v Erasmus and Others (2010) 31 ILJ
1460 (L.C) at para 6.

“6 (2011} 32 ILJ 1705 (LC) at para 16.
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was appropriate. | am afraid that these conclusions are entirely incompatible

with the evidence actually on record, which | will now deal with.

It is simply not so that there was no evidence of the break down in the
employment relationship. Malan, as former district manager and now general
manager, gave clear evidence in this respect, and specifically said that as far
as the applicant was concerned, the trust relationship had been ‘totally
destroyed'. The applicant could not call the first respondent’s former direct
manager, Krige, because he was no longer in the employ of the applicant and
would simply not be in the position to comment ab'o'.Ut the continued
employment relationship between the applicant ar_;'_c__i"fhe first "-re_spondent.
Malan was the best and most suitable candidate to .g'i'\)e this evidence,
considering his position in the applicant, th'e_: fact fh_at 'h_e__ was a district
manager for five years and had since been 'élevaféd_t_o a more Senior position,
and was the appeal chairperson of the appeltant’é abﬁeals-ﬁearing. He would
know exactly what impact the misconduct of the first respondent had on the
employment relationship. In Edcon Ltd v Piilegﬁé'f NO and Others" the Court

said:

... The gravamen of Edcﬁon__’g case against Reddy was that her conduct
breached the trust relationship. Someone in management and who had
dealings with Reddy in _tlj}e_' employment setup, as afready alluded to, was
req'uired to_tell Pillemer in what respects Reddy’s conduct breached the trust
ré'latipr;sh_ip. AII__ we know is that Reddy was employed as a quality control
'-_a_uditorﬁ no evidence was adduced to identify the nature and scope of her
d.{.J't'ie_s, her place in the hierarchy, the importance of trust in the position that
s.he.i'.leid or in the performance of her work, or the adverse effects, either direct

or indirect, on Edcon's operations because of her retention, eg because of

precedent or example to others.’

The first respondent actually accepted under cross examination that as far as
the applicant was concerned, the trust relationship had indeed broken down.
He never challenged Malan’s testimony to this effect. In addition, the issue
was also fully dealt with at the disciplinary, and appeal proceedings. It is
specifically recorded in the appeal finding that the trust relationship is ‘broken

7 (2009} 30 ILJ 2642 (SCA) at para 20.
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and beyond repair. There can be little doubt that on the evidence, properly
considered, the trust relationship was destroyed. The following dictum in
Miyambo v CCMA and Others™ is particularly apposite, and in my view

supports the case the applicant sought to make out, where it was held:

‘It is appropriate to pause and reflect on the role that trust plays in the

employment relationship. Business risk is predominantly based on the
trustworthiness of company employees. The accumulation of individual
breaches of trust has significant economic repercussions. A successful

business enterprise operates on the basis of trust...’

[123] Arbitrator Mbuli however completely ignores all the éy_idence relating to the
disciplinary and appeal proceedings, as well the eviden_cé of 'Mala_n. Instead,
the arbitrator relies on the evidence of Krige to substantiéte his conclusion that
the trust relationship had not broken down '-Spéh___rei_i_é_nce is completely
misplaced. Once Krige is no Ionge_l; empioyed by "th_e é'p'{blicant, he is simply
not in a position to comment about the empldymgnt "'relationship, on behalf of
the applicant. it must also be considéregj that Krige is actually tainted by all
the events relating to the_bor_gfe(___;d__istrict fleet ;fSiFobIems in this case, giving him
a motive to downplay its s'everi.ty;':e\;én though he may not be employed by the
applicant any longer. '..B_ut to make matters even worse, Krige actually never
said in evidence that the trust relationship between the applicant and the first
respondent st_iii existed. “The manner in which arbitrator Mbuli dealt with the
issue of' the .-trusti rel_atibnshfp is therefore simply not the conduct of a

reasonable decision maker, and thus reviewable.

[124] Turning then to the seriousness of the misconduct, there can be no doubt it is
serious, -1t led to the dismissal of all the managers directly involved. The
problems with the fleet exposed the applicant to significant and material risk.
Dereliction of duty in the case of a person that can in essence be considered
to be the managing director of a R1 billion business is the kind of misconduct
that could competently be seen to justify dismissal. | simply cannot accept the
reasoning of arbitrator Mbuli that the misconduct is not serious, and this

conclusion of the arbitrator is simply not a reasonable outcome. In my view,

% (2010) 31 ILJ 2031 {LAC) at para 13.
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the following dictum in JDG Trading (Pty) Ltd t/a Price ‘n Pride v Brunsdon®,
despite dealing with a dismissal for incapacity, can equally be applied in this

instance:

‘| agree with what is said in Smith & Wood /ndustrial Law (6 ed) at 405: "In the
realm of dismissal for incapability, it is important that the employer's business
should not have to suffer, to the detriment of all concerned, through the

ineptitude or inefficiency of a particular employee."

[125] This then only leaves the issue of progressive discipline. Where it comes fo
the concept of progressive discipline, the Court ln Tlmothy v Nampak
Corrugated Containers (Pty) Ltd®° said: o '

.. Progressive sanctions were des:gned to bnng the employee back into the
fold, so as to ensure, by virtue of the part:cular sanctlon that faced with the
same situation again, an emp_l_oyee would resist the commission of the
wrongdoing upon which act t_he sanction wae___'.: imposed. The idea of a
progressive sanction is to ensure that an eihpleyee can be reintegrated into
the embrace of the '-émpioyer‘s organizaﬂbn in circumstances where the
employment retat[onship can be restored to that which pertained prior {o the

misconduct. .

[126] The above be_ing the ceSe, there is a formidable obstacle in the way of
progressive discipline, irﬁ_his case, which arbitrator Mbuli did not consider at
all. _This' is the complete lack of remorse and acknowledgment of wrongdoing
by the first respondent. The first respondent never came out and admitted that
he had a lapse ih'judgment in dealing with the fleet problem the way he should
have. He never apologized to the applicant for what happened, and sought to
convince the applicant that irrespective of this admitted failure, he was stili a
valuable employee and would prove himself to the applicant if given the
chance to do so. In Gold Fields Mining®' the Court held as follows in finding

dismissal to be justified:

. The third respondent committed an act of serious misconduct. He

deliberately failed to follow the sampling procedure and was recalcitrant about

- (200{)) 21 ILJ 501 (LAC) at para 74.
(2010) 31 /ILJ 1844 (LAC) at 1850A-C.
(supra) at para 31.
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his wrongdeing. In such circumstances, his years of service and seniority
serve not only as mitigation but also aggravation particularly in the light of the
fact that his work has a serious impact on the decision that the employer

would take in relation to which area should be mined and the cost implications

attached thereto. ...’

Similar considerations apply in casu. The misconduct in this instance has
serious implications for the applicant. The first respondent knew what needed
to be done, and compietely failed to ensure it was done. And when confronted
with his faillure, he sought to blame everyone else, and dlsputed any

wrongdoing.*

Therefore, the first respondent exhibited no inclinatibn td\)va};de rehabilitation.
Instead, the opposite is true. He steadfastly contended he d:d nothing wrong.
He maintained he did all that was expected of hlm 1mplymg that if such a
situation arose again, he wouid behave in the same manner. Knowing how
the applicant felt about what was his duty and respons:bzlltles in this instance,
he chose a path of confron_tétidn_, insteed of conciliation. Considering his level
of seniority in the bUSinees, _:.a'[i the above circumstances would render
completely unfeasible any presbe_ct ef progressive discipline. The conclusion
by arbitrator Mbuti that progressive discipline may have been possible is
simply unsustéi_nable. | .consi_der"the following dictum from the judgment in De
Beers Cehéolideted Mine_s Ltd v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and
Arb:tratlon and Other 3 to be a valid consideration in casu, where the Court

said:

‘This brings me to remorse. It would in my view be difficult for an employer to
re-.erhploy an employee who has shown no remorse. Acknowledgment of
wrong doing is the first step towards rehabilitation. In the absence of a re-
commitment to the employer's workplace values, an employee cannot hope to
re-establish the trust which he himself has broken. Where, as in this case, an
employee, over and above having committed an act of dishonesty, falsely

denies having done so, an employer would, particularly where a high degree

%210 Department of Co-operative Governance, Human Settlements and Traditional Affairs, Limpopo

Prow’nce and another v Seopela NO and Others [2015] JOL 32810 (LC) at para 40 the Court said:
.. The fruitiess attempts by the third and fourth respondents to distance themselves from their

statutory duty aggravates the failure .

53 (2000) 21 ILJ 1051 (LAC) at para 25.
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of trust is reposed in an employee, be legitimately entitied to say to itself that

the risk to continue to employ the offender is unacceptably great.’

I further find the analogy used in Independent Newspapers (Pty) Ltd v Media
Workers Union of SA on behalf of McKay and Others®™ particularly appealing,

where the Court said:

‘The analogy of a marriage, used by Mr Van Zyl, is perhaps a useful one. It is
not unheard of for one partner in a marriage relationship who has been
cuckolded to give the other partner a second chance, as it were, in the face of

true remorse and a true effort to rebuild the trust relationship.’

[128] In deciding whether the decision to dismiss by theapplgcant was fair, the
‘totality of circumstances’ had to have been cbnsideréd 5 This ‘totality of
circumstances’ include the reason the employer lmposed the sanction of
dismissal, the basis of the employees cha!lenge to the dismissal, the harm
caused by the employee's conduct -whether progress:ve discipline would be
appropriate, the effect of dlsmlssal on the empioyee the employee’s service
record, the issue of the nature of the mnsconduct any breakdown of the trust
relationship, the emstence of d:shonesty, the existence of genuine remorse,
the job function and the empioyers disciplinary code and procedure.®®
Considering all these pr_:_nCIpEe_s__,_ as may be applicable in this case, | have little
hesitation in cohcluding that the first respondent's misconduct justified his
dismissal, and any conclusion to the contrary is unsustainable and thus

rev:ewabie

% (2013) 34 ILJ 143 (LC) at 146. See also Greater Letaba Local Municipality v Mankgabe No and

Others (2008) 29 1l.J 1167 (LC) at para 34

*® See the dictum of Navsa AJ in Sidumo (supra) at para 78. See also National Commissioner of the
SA Police Service v Myers and Others (2012) 33 ILJ 1417 (LAC) at para 82; Fidelity Cash
Management Service (supra) at para 94,

% See Sidumo (supra) at paras 116 — 117; Eskom Holdings Lid v Fipaza and Others (2013) 34 ILJ 549
(LAC}) at para 54, Harmony Gold Mining Co Ltd v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and
Arbitration and Others (2013) 34 ILJ 912 (LC) at para 22; Trident SA (Pty) Ltd v Metal and Engineering
Industries Bargaining Council and Others (2012) 33 ILJ 494 (LC) at para 16; Taxi-Trucks Parcel
Express (Pty}) Ltd v National Bargaining Council for the Road Freight Industry and Others (2012) 33
ILJ 2085 (L.C) at para 18, Samancor Chrome Lid (Tubatse Ferrochrome) v Metal and Engineering
Industries Bargaining Councif and Others (2011) 32 ILJ 1057 (LAC) at para 34; National Union of
Mineworkers and Another v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and Others {2011)
32 ILJ 1189 (LC) at paras 26 - 27, City of Cape Town v SA Local Government Bargaining Council and
Others (2) (2011) 32 ILJ 1333 (LC) at paras 27 — 28; Mutual Construction Co Tvi {Pty) Lid v Nfombela
NO and Others (2010} 31 ILJ 801 (LAC) at paras 37 - 38.



[120]

[130]

52

In ali of the circumstances, | am satisfied that the first respondent committed
the misconduct of dereliction of duty, and that based on this misconduct and
considering all relevant circumstances, the dismissal of the first respondent by
the applicant was indeed fair. The conclusions by arbitrator Mbuli to the
contrary are not sustainable on the evidence, and certainly is not a reasonable
outcome.  The award by arbitrator Mbuli that the dismissal of the first
respondent by the applicant is substantively unfair therefore falls to be

reviewed and set aside.

Because of the above conclusion | have reached, it is not necessary to
consider the applicant’s second main ground of review relating to the relief

afforded by arbitrator Mbuii to the first respondent. ..

Conclusion

[131]

[132]

[133]

Therefore, and based on what has___pe_er{ set out above, I conclude that both
the arbitration awards in favour of the first respondent, relating to both his
suspension and dismissal, simply cannot be sustained. Both these awards fall

be reviewed and set asi_de,fy\?_hich:I hereby do.

In the case of the arbitration awai‘d of arbitrator Sonamzi, the reasons for my
conclusion in -thi's'.:' regafd_i_n shQrt aré that he ignored pertinent evidence and
failed to _contern_plate a.r'ld thén'éppiy material legal principles. If the arbitrator
indeed 'c'd_nside_r_e'd the e\__ri"dence he ignored, and property applied the requisite
Iegal_principle_é wher.e""it :came to precautionary suspension, he simply could
not hayé re_;a_sonabiy'arrived at the conclusion that he did.

And where it comes to arbitrator Mbuli, he in short ignored pertinent evidence,
did not préperly evaluate and determine the evidence and probabilities, and
never arrived at a properly motivated outcome as to what version / case was
to be preferred and why. All considered, if the evidence and probabilities are
properly considered, | am satisfied that the ultimate outcome arrived at by the
arbitrator to the effect that the first respondent is not guilty of the misconduct of
dereliction of duty, is simply not a reasonable outcome. The only reasonable
outcome, as | have said above, is that the first respondent is indeed guilty of

the misconduct, and that his dismissal was justified, and fair.
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Having reviewed and set aside both awards, | see no reason to remit these
matters back to the CCMA again for determination de novo before another
arbitrator. All the required evidence has been led and is on record. The
transcripts are complete and all the documentary evidence presented is part of
the records before me. | thus have sufficient evidentiary material before me to
finally determine both these matters.> The applicable legal principles at stake
are equally clear, and can be properly applied to the evidence as it stands. |
am satisfied that the precautionary suspension of the first respondent did not
constitute an unfair labour practice. | am equally satisfied that the first
respondent committed the misconduct relating to derelic_t_ic").h. df duty with which
he had been charged, and dismissal was an appropr_iéfé 'a_nd fair sanction for

this misconduct.

I shall therefore substitute the arbitration award of _arbitfétqr Sonamzi with an
award that the first respondent’s sus_penéi__on wa"s n.bt' an un'fair labour practice
and that this claim be dismissed. t;éh'éll also substitute the award of arbitrator
Mbuli with an award that the dismis:é_a_t_i_ of the first _res”pondent by the appiicant

was substantively fair.

This then only leaves the questib__h .d'f costs. Both parties contended that costs
should follow the resuilt. | sée_ no reason not to oblige, as this was what the

parties asked for.

In the premises, | make the following order:

1. The applicant's review application under case number PR 121 / 16 is
granted.

2. The applicant’s review application under case number PR 122 / 16 is
granted.

3. The arbitration award of the second respondent under case number PR

121 / 16, being arbitrator M Mbuli, which is dated 29 April 2015 and

issued under case number ECEL 4161 — 13, is reviewed and set aside.

*" See Blitz Printers {supra} atpara 77.
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The arbitration award of the second respondent under case number PR
122 / 16, being arbitrator D Sonamzi, which is dated 30 October 2013

and issued under case number ECEL 2659 — 13, is reviewed and set

aside.

The arbitration award of arbitrator M Mbuli dated 29 April 2015 and
issued under case number ECEL 4161 — 13, is substituted with an

award that the dismissai of the first respondent by the applicant was

substantively fair.

The arbitration award of arbitrator D Sonamzi dated 30 QOctober 2013
and issued under case number ECEL 2659 — 13, is substituted with an
award that the suspension of the first respondent by the applicant did
not constitute an unfair labour practice and that the first respondent’s

claim be dismissed.

The first respondent is ordered to pay the applicant’s costs, in respect
of both cases, under case numbers PR 121/ 16 and PR 122/ 16.

E:gnyman



